Università degli Studi di Milano

Department of Chemistry



Doctorate School of Chemical Science and Technologies PhD in Chemical Sciences - XXXII Cycle

HETEROGENEOUS IRON CATALYZED CYCLOPROPANATION REACTION

PhD Thesis of: Abhijnan Sarkar Matr. n. R11542

Advisor: Prof. Dr. Fabio Ragaini

Coordinator: Prof. Dr. Emanuela Licandro

Academic Year 2019/2020

Dedicated to Lord Skiva

Thesis Certificate

This is to certify that the thesis entitled **"Heterogeneous Iron Catalyzed Cyclopropanation Reaction"** submitted by Abhijnan Sarkar to the Università degli Studi di Milano (University of Milan) for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) in Chemistry is a bona fide record of research work carried out by him under my supervision. Any kind of information taken from previous reports published elsewhere which has adopted for the documentation in the content of thesis are cited and acknowledged with references. The contents of this thesis, in full or in parts, have not been submitted to any other Institute or University for the award of any degree or diploma.

Date : September 30, 2019 Place : Milano, Italy

Dr. Fabio Ragaini Research Advisor Professor Department of Chemistry Università degli Studi di Milano (University of Milan) Via Camillo Golgi, 19, 20133 Milano MI

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I am always indebted to God for giving me strength to keep going and look forward. Thank you God not only for today but for everyday for everything that happens for me.

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Fabio Ragaini for his for his patient guidance and support during the past years. In a lighter note, in the past years sir has never ever said "well done" to me because probably he thought if I would get satisfied I would stop functioning. May be he can push his luck and wish me now, well done on my career because there are no more works apparently left now for my PhD days'. Sir, you have an immense contribution in my academic career, you will always stay in my heart. You have played a most wonderful and remarkable role in what I am today and what I would be in the life yet to come; so thank you very much.

Pleasure screens my mind and gladness encamp my heart while I place my deep gratitude to Dr. Francesco Ferretti and Professor. Dr. Alessandro Casselli for all their supports, helps and for cheering me up at every stages of research work during my PhD.

I think that I will miss the most is my cheerful friends and colleagues who have been part of my regular routine during my PhD period. Daniela (Dada), Edoardo, Giorgio, Dario, Fabrizio, Luca, Nicola, Fabio, Paolo, Massimo, Caterina, Doaa, El-Atawy, Lilian and others - you all are like my family away from home. I have had some wonderful times with you guys. I'll always cherish these memories for rest of my life. Life is moving, thank all of you once again for being with me on and off with this lovely journey !!! See you on the other side.

I wish to extend my thanks to Americo Costantino and Pasquale Illiano for NMR data acquisition, Mario Rosa for elemental analysis and Ermelinda for mass spectroscopy analysis. My heartiest regards and respect to each one of you.

I wish to express my sincere tribute to my childhood teachers of Sudhindranath Sishu Vidyalaya. Many of them are no more in this world; I don't know how they tackled such a naughty child like me. In my childhood days, I was not at all easy to manage; they must be extremely patient. Each of them had a huge influence on my personality.

Countless regards and respect to Late Atul Chandra Das, my first teacher who always believed if the rest of the world can do I can also do. I don't know whether I can make you proud but I can assure you that I gave it all that I had.

It is a great pleasure for me to give my gratitude to Dr. Sachin Pal and Dr. Debasish Banerjee for their academic support and encouragement since my undergraduate level. I would like to extend the opportunity to express my special thanks to Dr. Hanuman Prasad Gupta; a lot of credit for my ability to understand in stereochemistry, group theory and spectroscopy should go to him. I am extremely grateful to my teachers in DSN college, Unaao, UP. Still now I remember their countless support and sacrifice since my M.Sc level. I specially salute Dr. M. M. Gupta, Dr. R. N. Awasthi, Dr. Archana Dikshit and Dr. Sachiraman Srivastava for giving me a proper orientation in life.

Limitless joy is lingering in my heart to recall my dear friends Amit, Gaurav, Girish and Sirshendu for their unconditional support, timely helps and constant encouragements since we are being friends of each other. I am very lucky to have you as friends.

My research would have been unsuccessful had there not been my dear wife Ananya, whose motivation and unconditional sacrifice paved the way to continue my research. I know there was a wonderful professional career in front of her. But she took the initiative to step back herself. She bears all the burdens of our family and allow me to concentrate fully on research. Without that, I don't think I would have been able to focus in PhD without stress. I salute her for patiently bearing all my frustrations and all sorts of rubbish that I have usually spoken. Thank you Ananya for bearing with me and always staying by my side in my tough time.

The most precious and secret diamond of my life, my son -Spandan; he is 7 years now. Time has quickly flown by. I wanted to spend so much time with him specially on special occasions like his birthday, sports day, annual functions, going on holidays, festivals whatever. I have missed out on all those things. Even, I have not spent enough time with him. Thanks to my little champ for his understanding.

My father Dr. Tarun Tapan Sarkar who shaped me as a chemist and human being. He is my real pillar of support. He is economical in words but lavish in action and emotion. In my tough time, my father was always with me, whatever he did for me can never be matched or measured. Whatever I am today it is because of him. I hope I have lived up to his expectation. Without mentioning the name, I finally greet everyone who supported me in various stages and situations of my life - no matter whenever, whatever and however!!

Difficult roads often lead to beautiful destinations. At this stage I would like to recycle myself to be useful for something else in chemistry and beyond. Let see.

ABHIJNAN SARKAR

Abstract

Until now, NGR (nitrogen-enriched graphene) catalysts have mostly been employed for hydrogenation/oxidation reactions. In this piece of work, we expand the field of applicability of an iron NGR catalyst to cyclopropanation reactions.

In this work, a heterogeneous Fe-based nitrogen-doped carbon supported catalyst has been successfully employed for the cyclopropanation reaction of alkenes. According to best of our knowledge, this is the first example of a heterogeneous Fe-catalyzed cyclopropanation reaction in today's date. These kinds of materials, generally employed for reduction or oxidation reaction, are now indeed effective catalyst also for carbene transfer reactions.

The activity of Fe/Phen@C-800in the reaction was initially explored by using ethyl diazoacetate and α -methylstyrene as substrates as the model transformation. Various parameters such as solvent, temperature, time and catalyst support etc. were changed. The nature of the solvent has a minimal influence both on the reaction yield and diasteroselectivity making this reaction versatile from the media profile. The variation of the reaction temperature furnished the product in slightly lower yield. When a 5-fold amount of the olefin with respect to the diazo compound was used, homocoupling products (diethyl fumarate and diethyl maleate) deriving from EDA were detected in very low amount (<5 %). Even when the amount of olefin was decreased (1.5 eq) homocoupling sideproducts increased, although a very good yield of the cyclopropane was maintained, demonstrating the applicability of the procedure even to more expensive olefins. Interestingly, the catalyst is water tolerant and only a slight decreased yield was obtained using a "wet" solvent. A change in the catalyst support from carbon to inorganic oxides (MgO or SiO₂) does not significantly affect the yield and the diastero selectivity. Furthermore control experiments effected by employing catalysts prepared by the same procedure employed for Fe/Phen@C-800, but omitting either Fe(OAc)₂ or Phen, resulted in no detectable formation of cyclopropane.

Fe/Phen@C-800-catalysts showed good results in dimethoxyethane at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 4 h, affording high yields of the desired cyclopropanes (mixture of *cis* and *trans* isomers) and only <5 % ethyl maleate and fumarate. The model reaction has been successfully scaled-upto 15-fold without significant variations of yield and diasteroisomeric ratio.

The developed protocol allows obtaining several cyclopropanes from aromatic and aliphatic olefins and different diazocompounds. High to excellent yields were obtained for terminal

olefins, including geminally substituted ones. Aliphatic olefins require longer reaction times. A moderate trans diastereoselectivity was observed in all cases. The catalysts do not show any activity towards internal olefins and can be used to selectively cyclopropanate a terminal olefin in a substrate containing both internal and terminal olefinic groups. The selectivity for the terminal double bond can be explained by the lack of activity of the catalyst in the case of internal olefins, most likely due to a hindered approach of the substrate to the carbene formed on the surface of the catalyst.

Mono substituted diazo compounds (ester or ketone) afforded the corresponding cyclopropanesin excellent yields. More sterically demanding diazocompounds such as t-BDA has a dramatic effect on the diasteroselection, furnishing the *cis*- isomer only in traces. Disubstituted diazomethanes proved to be more challenging. Mono substituted diazo compounds such as diphenyldiazomethane failed to afford corresponding cyclopropanes under standard conditions, although it yielded the product in moderate yield at a higher temperature and longer reaction time (100°C for 8h in toluene), while the more stable diazomalonate did not react even under these conditions.

The catalysts was recycled several times, but a gradual deactivation is immediately observed since the first recycle. In principle, the loss of activity can be attributed either to metal leaching or to deactivation of the catalyst. After the 1st recycle, ICP analysis of the solution-showed that only 0.1% of the initial iron had been lost in solution. This result indicates that the loss of recycling ability is not due to metal leaching. In order to make the whole process both efficient and effective, two routes of reactivation were explored.

Attempted reactivation of the catalyst at 300 °C seems to have a slightly positive effect but that at 400 °C is not effective. The initial catalyst activity was effectively restored using an oxidative reactivation protocol under mild conditions (H₂O₂, 3 v/v% aqueous solution), which may be of more general use even for other reactions if olefins or other polymerizable compounds are employed as substrates.

Oxidative regeneration is typical for catalyst that suffer of physicochemical deactivation (e.g. fouling or poisoning). Indeed, we verified that complete deactivation of the catalyst occurs even by treating the material only with styrene under the reaction conditions and the activity is restored by oxidative treatment. This result indicates the polymerization of the olefin on the catalytic surface as a possible cause for the deactivation rather than a mechanical or thermal modification of the catalyst.

Table of Contents

	Title	Page No.	
	Acknowledgement	i	
	Abstract	iii	
	Table of Contents	V	
	List of Figures	vii	
	List of Tables	ix	
	List of Schemes	Х	
	Abbreviations	xi	
Chapter 1 - Introduction		1 - 35	
1.1	The Cyclopropane Ring	1	
1.2	Uses of Cyclopropanes and Their Derivatives	2	
1.2.1	Thermal Ring Fission	3	
1.2.1.1	Cyclopropyl Carbene Rearrangement	3	
1.2.1.2	Cyclopropylmethyl Carbene Rearrangement	3	
1.2.1.3	Vinylcyclopropane Rearrangement	4	
1.2.1.4	Divinylcyclopropane Rearrangement	5	
1.2.1.5	Miscellaneous Thermal Fission	6	
1.2.2	Oxidative and Reductive Ring Fission	6	
1.2.2.1	Oxidative Fission	6	
1.2.2.2	Reductive Fission	7	
1.2.3	Electrophilic and Nucleophilic Ring Fission	7	
1.2.3.1	Additions to Cyclopropanes	7	
1.2.3.2	Electrophilic Additions	8	
1.2.3.3	Cyclopropylcarbinyl Cation and Related Rearrangements	9	
1.2.3.4	Nucleophilic Addition	10	
1.2.3.5	Imine-Cyclopropane and Carbonyl-Cyclopropane Rearrangement	10	
1.2.4	Miscellaneous Ring Fission	11	
1.2.4.1	Fission Caused by Irradiation	11	
1.2.4.2	Transition Metal Mediated Ring Fission	12	
1.2.4.3	Free Radical Reactions of Cyclopropanes	12	

1.2.4.4	Rearrangement of the Cyclopropylcarbinyl Radical	14
1.2.5	Incorporation of Cyclopropane to Lock a Molecule in a Bioactive Conformation	15
1.3	Simmons-Smith Reaction	15
1.3.1	Diazo-Derived Carbenoids	16
1.3.2	Corey-Chaykovsky Cyclopropagation	18
1.3.5	Cycloisomerization	18
1.3.4	Kulinkovich Reaction	20
1.3.5	Nucleophilic Displacement Peactions	20
1.4	Different Types of Transition Metal Catalysts for Cyclopropanation Reaction	23
1.4.1	Copper-Based Catalysts	24
1.4.2	Rhodium-Based Catalysts	27
1.4.3	Ruthenium-Based Catalysts	29
1.4.4	Cobalt-Based Catalysts	32
1.5	Catalytic Mechanisms	33
1.5.1	Concerted Asynchronous Mechanism	33
1.5.2	The Coordination Mechanism	34
1.5.3	Stepwise Radical Addition Mechanism	34
Chapter 2 - Project Description		36 - 46
2.1	Objective of the Project	45
Chapter 3 - Results and Discussions		47 - 65
Chapter 4 -Experimental Details		66 - 87
4.1	General Aspects	66
4.2	Analytical Details	66
4.3	Procedure for Catalyst Preparation	67
4.4	Procedure for Catalytic Reactions and Product Isolation	68
4.5	Procedure for Catalyst Recycling and Regeneration	68
4.6	Characterization of the Reaction Products	69
Referen	ces	88
Appendices: NMR Spectra of Isolated Products		

List of Figures

	Title	Page No.
Figure 1.1	The Coulson-Moffitt model.	1
Figure 1.2	Simple bond fragmentation mechanism of C=C bonds in olefins and C-C bond in cyclopropane.	8
Figure 1.3	Mechanistic analogy of olefins and cyclopropanes equipped with similar donors and acceptors.	8
Figure 1.4	Pathways for a radical reaction with a cyclopropane.	13
Figure 1.5	Free radical bromination of cyclopropane derivatives.	13
Figure 1.6	Chiral Copper semicorrin complex and chiral bisoxazoline ligand.	25
Figure 1.7	Different chiral bisoxazoline ligands.	26
Figure 1.8	Other chiral chelating ligands of copper catalyst.	26
Figure 1.9	Different chiral dirhodium(II) carboxamidates.	28
Figure 1.10	Different chiral dirhodium(II) carboxylates.	28
Figure 1.11	Chiral ruthenium bis(oxazoline)pyridines complex.	30
Figure 1.12	Chiral ruthenium porphyrin.	30
Figure 1.13	Chiral ruthenium salen and other Schiff-base complexes.	31
Figure 1.14	Chiral cobalt salen complexes.	32
Figure 1.15	Concerted asynchronous mechanism.	33
Figure 1.16	The coordination mechanism.	34
Figure 1.17	Stepwise radical addition mechanism.	35
Figure 2.1	Synthesis of an active cobalt oxide–nitrogen/carbon catalyst by pyrolysis of a cobalt(II) acetate–phenanthroline complex on carbon.	37
Figure 2.2	Nanoscaled Fe/Fe ₂ O ₃ particles surrounded by nitrogen-doped graphene layers.	37
Figure 2.3	Selected a) BF- and b) HAADF-TEM images of the carbon supported iron-based catalyst. c) Visualization of graphene-layers of Fe ₂ O ₃ /NGr@C by BF-TEM.	40
Figure 2.4	Diffraction pattern of Fe ₂ O ₃ /NGr@C for 1g-, 5g- and 10g-scale.	41
Figure 2.5	Selected EDX spectrum of Fe ₂ O ₃ /NGr@C catalyst.	41
Figure 2.6	N1s spectrum of the Fe ₂ O ₃ /NGr@C catalyst.	42
Figure 2.7	SEM (left) and HAADF-TEM (right) images of the carbon supported cobalt catalyst.	43
Figure 2.8	(a) EDXS-mapping of Co/Co ₃ O ₄ crystallites; cobalt (red), oxy- gen(green) and carbon (blue) of Co ₃ O ₄ /NGr@C. (b) Bright field TEM images to illustrate formed graphene layers. (c) Illustration of multi core–shell structured Co-Co ₃ O ₄ /NGr@C nanoparticles.	44

- Figure 3.1 Examples of internal olefins unreactive under optimized reaction 53 conditions.
 Figure 3.2 Recycling and reactivation steps. For experimental details regard- 55
- ing the recycling runs and the reactivation procedures.
- Figure 3.3 XPS analyses (survey) of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A), Fe/Phen@C-800_S 56 (B) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (C).
- Figure 3.4 XPS analyses (C1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and 57 Fe/Phen@C-800_R.
- Figure 3.5 XPS analyses (O1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and 57 Fe/Phen@C-800_R.
- Figure 3.6 XPS analyses (Fe2p) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and 58 Fe/Phen@C-800_R.
- Figure 3.7 XPS analyses (N1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and 58 Fe/Phen@C-800_R.
- Figure 3.8 ADF-STEM images and EELS elemental maps of Fe/Phen@C-800 59 (A), Fe/Phen@C-800_S (B) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (C).
- Figure 3.9 HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of 61 Fe/Phen@C-800 (A) showing high resolution images of a metallic Fe particle accompanied by a small Fe oxide particle (refer to Fig. 3.8A), the ABF image on the right highlights the enclosure of the metallic particle by some graphene layers. Line (B) shows a representative overview of an agglomeration of some support particles with their Fe particles, line (C) a more detailed view of the edge regions of some support particles and (D) high resolution images of the mixed C, N, O phase containing Fe clusters (some marked by arrows, refer to Figure 3.12 B).
- Figure 3.10 HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of Fe/Phen@C-800_S. Line (A) showing a carbon enclosed metallic Fe particle, line (B) a general overview (corresponding to the area of Figure 3.8B) and line (C) a high resolution image of the C, N, O phase with its Fe clusters.
- Figure 3.11 HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of Fe/Phen@C-800_R.Line (A) showing a carbon enclosed metallic Fe particle, line (B) a representative general overview of agglomerated support particles with their Fe particles. Line (C) a close up of the edge of such an agglomeration and line (D) a high resolution image of the C, N, O phase with its Fe clusters.
- Figure 3.12 ADF-STEM images and EELS spectra from indicated areas of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A and B), Fe/Phen@C-800_S (C) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (D). Lines (A), (C) and (D) show exemplary spectra of the spectrum imaging datasets used to calculate the corresponding elemental maps in Figure 3.8. They also show a certain N and Fe content besides the carbon in areas close to the surface of the support particles. Area 3 in line (B) shows the spectrum of the region also shown in high resolution in Figure S7D, verifying the presence of Fe at this position and supporting the interpretation of the clusters with brighter contrast there to be of Fe.

64

List of Tables

Title

Table 3.1	Cyclopropanation of 1a with Fe/Phen@C-800as catalyst: effect of solvent.	50
Table 3.2	Cyclopropanation of 1a with Fe/Phen@C-800as catalyst: effect of temperature.	51
Table 3.3	Cyclopropanation of 1a with Fe/Phen@C-800as catalyst: effect of catalyst and olefin loading.	51
Table 3.4	Elemental compositions (near-surface region) for the fresh (Fe/Phen@C-800), spent(Fe/Phen@C-800_S) and reactivated (Fe/Phen@C-800_R) Fe-based catalysts based on XPS quantitative analysis.	54
Table 4.1	Elemental compositions of the fresh, deactivated and reactivated Fe-based catalysts based on CHN and AAS Fe analysis.	69

List of Schemes

	Title	Page No.
Scheme 1.1	Insertion of a cyclopropane into a medicinally active molecule.	15
Scheme 1.2	Simmons-Smith cyclopropanation.	15
Scheme 1.3	Simmons-Smith cyclopropanation of 2-cyclohexen-1-ol.	16
Scheme 1.4	Catalytic cycle for carbenoid cyclopropane synthesis.	17
Scheme 1.5	Diazo-derived carbenoids for cyclopropanation of olefins.	17
Scheme 1.6	General conditions for the Corey-Chaykovsky cyclopropanation.	18
Scheme 1.7	Pt-catalyzed cycloisomerization of enynes and effect of oxygen substitution.	19
Scheme 1.8	Polypropionate natural products and Lewis acid-catalyzed	20
Scheme 1.9	Kulinkovich reaction.	21
Scheme 1.10	Modification of Kulinkovich reaction.	22
Scheme 1.11	Nucleophilic cyclopropanations.	23
Scheme 1.12	Cu-Catalyzed enantio-selective synthesis of cyclopropylboronates.	24
Scheme 1.13	Cyclopropanation of phenyliodoniumylide and nonterminal alkenes.	24
Scheme 1.14	Asymmetric cyclopropanation of Z- or E-alkenes.	25
Scheme 1.15	Continuous flow asymmetric cyclopropanation reactions using $Cu(I)$ catalyst and CO_2 as a vector.	27
Scheme 1.16	Preparation of optically active cis-cyclopropane carboxylates.	29
Scheme 3.1	Cyclopropanation of 2a using Fe/Phen@C-800 as catalyst.	49
Scheme 3.2	Cyclopropanation of 1a with different Fe-catalysts under optimized conditions: effect of the support.	52
Scheme 3.3	Substrate scope with respect to olefins.	52
Scheme 3.4	Substrate scope with respect to diazocompounds.	54

Abbreviations

atm	Atmosphere
MW	Molecular weight
g	gram
mg	milligram
mL	milliliter
Equiv.	Equivalent
mmol	Millimole
mol	Mole
h	Hour/hours
°C	Degrees Celsius
Temp.	Temperature
RT	Room temperature
Cat.	Catalyst
NGR	Nitrogen-doped-graphene
Conv.	Conversion
Sel.	Selectivity
DCM	Dichloromethane
DME	Dimethoxy ethane
EDA	Ethyl diazoacetate
t-BDA	Tertiary butyl diazoacetate
EDG	Electron-donating group
EWG	Electron-withdrawing group
Phen	1,10-phenanthroline
UNIMI	Università degli Studi di Milano
Ac	Acetyl
Ar	Aryl
Benz.	Benzene
Bn	Benzyl
^t Bu	Tert-butyl
e.g.	For example

Me	Methyl
Et	Ethyl
ABF	Annular bright field
ADF	Annular dark field
HAADF	High angle annular dark field
ICP	Inductively coupled plasma
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
STEM	Scanning transmission electron
	microscopy
EDXS	Energy dispersive-X-ray spectrometer
EELS	Electron energy loss spectrometer
IR	Infrared spectroscopy
FT-IR	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
¹ H NMR	Proton nuclear magnetic resonance
¹³ C NMR	Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance
¹⁹ F NMR	Fluorine-19 nuclear magnetic resonance
nd	Not detected
S	Singlet
d	Doublet
t	Triplet
q	Quartet
m	Multiplet
J	Coupling constant
ppm	Parts per million
dr	Diastreomeric ratio

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 The Cyclopropane Ring

The smallest cycloalkane unit is "the cyclopropanes" has a unique combination of reactivity and structural properties. Cyclopropanes and their derivatives have been found in various natural products such as terpenes, pheromones, fatty acid metabolites and in some amino acids.^{1,2} Cyclopropanes are extremely important synthetic intermediates while preparing various cyclic and acyclic compounds. Unique electronic, conformational and steric properties of the cyclopropyl group continue to fascinate researchers of various disciplines.³ The construction of the cyclopropane ring requires three -CH₂- groups to be accommodated into acyclic 3-membered ring arrangement where all C-C-C bond angles are equal to 60° (Figure 1.1).⁴ These bond angles are significantly much lower than the ideal 109.5° for sp³-hybridized carbons, which results into an angular strain [Bayer Strain]. The reduced overlap is considered to be the source of the angular strain.⁵



Figure 1.1: The Coulson-Moffitt model.^{2,4}

In addition, cyclopropanes suffers high torsional strain because of the coplanar arrangement of the carbon atoms which mandates that C-H bonds be eclipsed within the structure. The relief of strain is associated with ring opening,⁴ rationalizing the high reactivity of the cyclopropyl group.

σ bonds are considered as localized entities which is in accordance to classic approaches in organic chemistry.⁴ By aiding σ-conjugation concept, some of the chemical and physical properties of cyclopropanes can be explained. Three carbon-carbon σ-bonds form a cyclic array of 6 electrons, which follows Huckel's 4n+2 rule of aromaticity; therefore cyclopropane is aromatic. σ-aromaticity explains chemical properties of cyclopropanes such as their reactivity towards electrophiles.

The reactivity of cyclopropanes are significantly higher than those of typical alkanes. Higher reactivity of cyclopropanes originates from unusual chemical skeleton structure, relatively shorter C-C bonds, enhanced both the π -character of the C-C bonds than normal, shorter and stronger C-H bonds than those in alkanes. Kinetic stability of cyclopropanes under ring strain (27.5 kcal mol⁻¹) is also noteworthy.⁶ Relief of strain lead to significant challenges for their construction and manipulation, defending in certain tactical limitations. Cyclopropanes can also be extended in their uses to 'lock' a molecule in its bioactive conformation; therefore creating a potential increase in its application.³

From previous discussion, it is clear that high ring strain, torsional strain, limited degrees of freedom, excellent reactivity and many other remarkable properties make cyclopropanes attractive for various chemical transformations!

1.2 Uses of Cyclopropanes and Their Derivatives

The importance of cyclopropanes in organic synthesis originates from the distinctive characteristics of the three member ring and the similarity of its chemistry to that of a carbon-carbon double bond.⁷

Chemists usually adopt the incorporation of a cyclopropyl group as a good synthetic strategy for changes in either the consonant or the dissonant relationships within the carbon framework of the products. This can be demonstrated by the following example -

Hydrolysis of 1 results into enone 2 in which the consonant relationship of charges has been retained. Another good strategy is the incorporation of the odd carbon in the form of a cyclopropane. Incorporating cyclopropane in 3 allows for the cleavage to 4, where the consonance (or dissonance) will be dictated solely on the basis of further use or will depend on other functionalities surrounding the olefin.⁸



This remarkable features of cyclopropanes becomes a useful "synthetic wedge tool" to design carbon frameworks in the desired product because it aids the addition of only one carbon. Applications of cyclopropanes and their derivatives in the preparation of organic compounds are extensive⁹ and have been explored in virtually every synthetic sense that befits the utility of alkenes in synthesis.

1.2.1 Thermal Ring Fission

1.2.1.1 Cyclopropyl Carbene Rearrangement

By treating 1,1-dibromocyclopropane(5) with magnesium, an allene(7) is obtained,¹⁰⁻¹¹ which arises from the rearrangement of a cyclopropylcarbenoid(6).



1.2.1.2 Cyclopropylmethyl Carbene Rearrangement

Formation of carbene(8) causes a ring expansion through a 1,2-migration of the cyclopropyl C-C bond, resulting in formation of a cyclobutene(9).¹²



This strategy has been successful in the synthesis of octalene(14).¹¹



1.2.1.3 Vinylcyclopropane Rearrangement

Chemical properties of cyclopropanes are greatly influenced by conjugation with adjacent π -systems. Vinylcyclopropane(15) undergoes unimolecular rearrangement and cyclopentene(16) forms upon heating.^{13,14} Mostly these rearrangements have biradical intermediates.¹⁵ Although concerted processes have been reported in several articles.¹⁶⁻¹⁷ The following examples show the utility of the vinylcyclopropane-cyclopentene rearrangement in substituted or annulated cyclopentenes synthesis.



Researchers explored the usefulness of this rearrangement in order to develop numerous methodologies concerned with the preparation of functionalized cyclopentenes.¹⁸

1.2.1.4 Divinylcyclopropane Rearrangement

The preparation of seven-membered rings can be done via thermal rearrangement of divinylcyclopropanes. Cyclopropanation of cis-hexatriene(17) with diazomethane in the presence of cuprous chloride at -40 °C resulted in the isolation of 1,4-cycloheptadiene(20).^{15a,19}

Earlier investigations^{13b, 20} in which the attempted preparation of cis-1,2-divinylcyclopropane unexpectedly yielded 1,4-cyclopentadiene(19) also support this result. The results infer that the low activation energy for the Cope rearrangement of cis-1,2-divinylcyclopropane to 1,4-cycloheptadiene (18 \longrightarrow 20) allows this process to take place at lower temperatures. A biradical mechanism has been proposed for this isomerization.^{15a,19}



Trans-1,2-divinylcyclopropane(19) is more stable than its cis isomer(18) and requires a higher temperature of 195 °C to isomerize to 1,4-cycloheptadiene.^{15a,19}

1.2.1.5 Miscellaneous Thermal Fission

The mechanism of the thermal isomerization of cyclopropane(21) to propylene(23) is thought to involve cleavage of the three-membered ring to the trimethylene biradical(22) which undergoes a subsequent hydrogen migration process to yield propylene.²¹



1.2.2 Oxidative and Reductive Ring Fission1.2.2.1 Oxidative Fission

Oxidative cleavage of cyclopropanes involves the breakage of a carbon-carbon bond of the cyclopropyl group, followed by the formation of two bonds involving carbon atoms in a higher oxidation state. The steric and electronic effects of the substituents on the ring, as well as the properties of the oxidizing agents can facilitate regio- and stereospecific opening of the cyclopropane ring. For example, bicyclo[3.1.0] hexane(24) is cleaved by lead tetraacetateto provide cyclohexane 1,3 diacetate(25).²²



This procedure has been found to be useful for the preparation of a homologous series of unsaturated acids.^{23,24}



Page 6 of 195

1.2.2.2 Reductive Fission

Cleavage of cyclopropane at the least substituted bond can be achieved by catalytic hydrogenation in a general synthesis of products containing gem-dimethyl groups.^{25,26,27}



Hydrogenation of cyclopropane(30) over platinum-rhodium catalyst results into ring opening and formation of gem-dimethyl compound(31), which is a starting material for β -himachalene(32) synthesis.²⁸



1.2.3 Electrophilic and Nucleophilic Ring Fission

1.2.3.1 Additions to Cyclopropanes

Simple fragmentation²⁹ of cyclopropane systems becomes possible when the ring is substituted with functionalities that offer a suitable reinforcement of unidirectional electron flow. Like alkenes, cyclopropanes are subject to addition reactions.

Any of its three bonds are prone to cleavage (Figure 1.2) based on the electron donors or acceptors substituent.



Figure 1.2: Simple bond fragmentation mechanism of C=C bonds in olefins and C-C bond in cyclopropane.

It is important to note that neither the nucleophile nor the electrophile may (or may not) be connected to the cyclopropane (Figure 1.2). Such connection distinguishes the reactive options of cyclopropanes from those of olefins which are equipped with similar donors or acceptors (Figure 1.3). The reactions can generally be carried on in either acidic or basic media.



Figure 1.3: Mechanistic analogy of olefins and cyclopropanes equipped with similar donors and acceptors.

1.2.3.2 Electrophilic Additions

In direct analogy to the chemistry of alkenes, the cyclopropane ring behaves much like a carbon-carbon double bond. Treatment of a three-membered ring with various electrophiles results in addition of the electrophile followed by ring fission.^{16,30}

The electrophilic addition follows Markovnikov's rule for substituted cyclopropanes, although exceptions have been reported. Addition of SbF_5 -HSO₃F to 1,1,2-trimethylcyclopropane(43) at -50 °C gave cleanly 2,3-dimethyl-2-butyl cation(44).³¹ It appears that the protonation occurred at C-3, to generate the tertiarycarbocation(44).³¹



1.2.3.3 Cyclopropylcarbinyl Cation and Related Rearrangements

For small-ring compounds, the cyclopropylcarbinyl cation system allows different possible rearrangements.¹⁶ The intermediates of this rearrangement are either the cyclobutylcation(47) or the allylcarbinyl cation(49).



Conversion of cyclopropylcarbinyl cation(46) to cyclobutyl cation(47) is promoted by the relief of ring strain and the formation of a more stable carbocation. On the other hand,

cyclopropylcarbinyl cation(46) will also endure ring fission to furnish allylcarbinyl cation(49). The application of these isomerizations is of great value to organic synthesis.

1.2.3.4 Nucleophilic Addition

Cleavage of cyclopropanes by nucleophiles is achievable only when an electron-withdrawing group (W) is present on the ring.³² This methodology is known as the homologous (or 1,5) version of the classical Michael addition³³ and widely applied in organic synthesis. Central to the approaches to cyclic compounds is the initial nucleophilic attack of an enolate, alkoxide, or amine on an activated cyclopropane, with subsequent intramolecular ring closure. The following example illustrates how this type of reaction can be applied intramolecularly in the preparation of some fused-ring compounds.

Anions(51) reacted rapidly at room temperature in DMSO via an intramolecular nucleophilic addition to the cyclopropyl group and52 formed. When 52 was heated, a 70% yield of the bicyclic ketones(53) was obtained.³⁴



1.2.3.5 Imine-Cyclopropane and Carbonyl-Cyclopropane Rearrangement

Under appropriate conditions, cyclopropanes in conjugation with an unsaturated functional group can undergo the rearrangement (i.e., 54 - 55), as shown below.



This rearrangement is a representative example of a heterocyclic variant of the vinylcyclopropane-cyclopentene rearrangement. Mechanistic details can involve thermolysis as well as protonation of the cyclopropyl ketone followed by either external or internal trapping of the cation; therefore, they need to be treated separately.

The following example illustrates the application of imine-cyclopropane and carbonylcyclopropane rearrangement in organic synthesis. Δ^2 -pyrrolines(57) (which are useful intermediates in alkaloid synthesis) can be prepared by the acid-catalyzed thermal rearrangement of cyclopropylimines(56).³⁵



1.2.4 Miscellaneous Ring Fission

1.2.4.1 Fission Caused by Irradiation

Upon irradiation, 2-cyclopropylcyclohexanone(58) gave a mixture of trans-(61) and ciscyclonon-4-enones(62)as major products.³⁶ The proposed mechanism involves photochemically induced α -cleavage, followed by rearrangement of the resulting cyclopropylcarbinyl radical(59) and collapse of diradical(60).



More examples of cyclopropane ring isomerization to olefins have been published.^{37,38,39}

1.2.4.2 Transition Metal Mediated Ring Fission

Transition metals promote the cleavage of cyclopropane derivatives. However, a reasonable and acceptable mechanism for such reactions is not clear because of uncertainty of the structures in the resulting products. Cyclopropane derivatives exhibit unusually low oxidation potentials which suggests the electron transfer may be involved in many of these reactions.⁴⁰ For example - heating(63) at 190 °C for 30 min in the presence of a catalytic amount of(66) gave a mixture consisting of 80% cis-dihydroindene(64) and 2% trans-dihydroindene(65).⁴¹



1.2.4.3 Free Radical Reactions of Cyclopropanes

Two competing pathways are possible for a radical (X[•]) reaction with a cyclopropane: (1) hydrogen abstraction or ring opening(Figure 1.4).⁴² Generally, in case of extremely reactive radicals (Cl[•], t-BuO[•] and imidyl) hydrogen abstraction is observed^{43,44} whereas ring opening is observed for less reactive radicals (I[•], Br[•]).^{45,46}



Figure 1.4: Pathways for a radical reaction with a cyclopropane.

The products of the free radical bromination of alkylcyclopropanes arise from the formal 1,3addition of Br₂. In a S_H^2 process, wherein Br[•] attacks the least hindered carbon, to yield the most stable radical (Figure 1.5).⁴⁵

Ph MeO (67)	Catalyst	Ph CHCH ₂ CO ₂ Et MeO (68)	
cata	lyst	yield	
PtCl ₂ .	2PhCN	98	
_ [Rh(C	O ₂)Cl] ₂	98	
Cu b	ronze	97	

Figure 1.5: Free radical bromination of cyclopropane derivatives.

Cyclopropyl bromides can be prepared from cyclopropanes by the aid of imidyl radical chemistry. For example, the photoinitiated reaction of cyclopropane with 3,3-dimethyl-N-bromoglutarimide(69) produces cyclopropyl bromide(70) in an excellent yield. Imidyl radical rather than bromine atom is the chain-propagating species in this reaction.⁴⁴



1.2.4.4 Rearrangement of the Cyclopropylcarbinyl Radical

By treating with 1 equiv of thiophenol at 100 °C, ring opening of tetracyclic acetate(72) was achieved. Addition of PhS' to the double bond, followed by ring opening and trapping by PhSH produced 73a in 70% yield.⁴⁷ Reductive desulfurization produced 73b in 80% yield. 73b proved to be an important precursor to (\pm)-coriolin(74) and other oxygen-rich natural products.⁴⁷



1.2.5 Incorporation of Cyclopropane to Lock a Molecule in a Bioactive Conformation

Cyclopropane has the ability to lock a molecule in a bioactive conformation and thereby enhancing the potency. This utility of small cyclopropane group is often explored in medicinal chemistry for structure-activity relationship (SAR) studies. Shiozaki reported the formation of compound 75 as a potent ADAMTS-5 (A disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin motifs) inhibitor, which saw an important increase in potency once acyclopropyl linker was introduced into the structure 76 (Scheme 1.1).⁴⁸ The increase in activity was attributed with higher rigidity caused by the cyclopropane, which positions the pharmacophores in the optimal binding conformation.



 IC_{50} (Agg-2) = 1.6 μM IC_{50} (Agg-2) = 0.2 μM Scheme 1.1: Insertion of a cyclopropane into a medicinally active molecule.^{2,48}

1.3 Current Methods of Cyclopropane Preparation

1.3.1 Simmons-Smith Reaction

Over a long period of time, numerous methods for synthesizing cyclopropanes and their derivatives have been described.^{49,50} In 1958, H. E. Simmons and R. D. Smith reported the formal cycloaddition of methylene and various olefins by treatment of diiodomethane with the zinc-copper couple $Zn(Cu)^{51,52}$ (Scheme 1.2). From the synthetic point of view, the Simmons-Smith cyclopropanation reaction is still one of the most often chosen strategies for the stereospecific formation of cyclopropanes because of two factors- (1) broad scope of olefins which can be employed as substrates and (2) the stereospecificity of the transformation.⁵² Thereby, stereochemical information on the olefin can be transferred to the product.

$$R_{1} R_{2} + Zn/Cu + CH_{2}I_{2} \longrightarrow R_{1} R_{2} + IZnCH_{2}I \longrightarrow R_{1} R_{2} + ZnI_{2}$$
(77) (78) (79) (80) (81) (82) (82) (83)
Scheme 1.2: Simmons-Smith cyclopropanation.⁵³

Diastereocontrol is an essential strategic feature which one has to consider in the planning of a synthesis. Diastereoselectivity is largely controlled by steric factors in olefin cyclopropanation. Additionally, when the substrate bears Lewis basic heteroatoms in proximity to the olefin a strong directing effect may be observed.^{53,54,55,56,57} As a representative example, Scheme 1.3 is shown below, in which 2-cyclohexen-1-ol (84) is exposed to CH_2I_2 and Zn(Cu), providing 85 as a single diastereomer in 63% yield.



Scheme 1.3: Simmons-Smith cyclopropanation of 2-cyclohexen-1-ol.

Complicated preparation procedures of the zinc-copper couple and the reproducibility problems caused by variations in surface features of the alloy have led to the search of other protocols for generation of the zinc carbenoid.

Furukawa et al.^{57,58} developed a method for generation of the zinc carbenoid, in which diiodomethane is treated with ZnEt₂. This protocol has been widely adopted because it works over a wider range of temperatures and in a larger variety of solvents. The carbenoid species generated under Furukawa conditions shows higher activity with electron-rich olefins such as styrenes, enol ethers and enamines as well as for substrates containing Lewis basic directing groups.

The modifications by Furukawa et al.^{58,59} have proven to be more effective due to the use of readily reactive organometallic reagents such as diethyl zinc, instead of metallic zinc and therefore allowing the zinc carbene generation step with diiodomethane to occur more efficiently.⁵³

1.3.2 Diazo-Derived Carbenoids

Another method involves carbene transfer from aliphatic diazo compounds by using transition metals as catalysts such as ruthenium(Scheme 1.4).⁵⁵ By using copper and rhodium based catalysts, stereocontrolled and highly selective syntheses of functionalized cyclopropanes are achieved.⁵⁶

Ruthenium complexes are also fascinating in this area and they became more attractive to researchers due to their ability to form a greater diversity of complexes created by a large number of oxidation states.⁵⁵



Scheme 1.4: Catalytic cycle for carbenoid cyclopropane synthesis.⁵⁴



Scheme 1.5: Diazo-derived carbenoids for cyclopropanation of olefins.

Before choosing a diazo-derived carbenoid pathway for a cyclopropanation reaction in the synthesis of complex molecules (Scheme 1.5), the following aspects are very important which must be taken into account:

(1) Alkyldiazo compounds are lacking of stabilizing groups and therefore are considered capricious.

Alkyldiazo compounds are typically generated in situ.^{60,61,62,63,64,65}

(2) For an intermolecular cyclopropanation (such as $3 \rightarrow 4$) of the diazo compound to a mixture of the olefin,⁶⁶ a metal catalyst may be necessary to prevent carbene dimerization.

(3) Chemoselective discrimination between cyclopropanation and C–H insertion pathways can be an important issue. An elegant Study by Padwa, Doyle and co-workers⁶⁷ showed that chemoselectivity can be significantly influenced by the nature of the catalyst employed.

Intramolecular variant of this transformation (for example – Scheme 1.5, $95\rightarrow94$) has become a popular protocol in natural product synthesis, as two rings can be stereoselectively

generated in a single step and highly substituted cyclopropanes can be accessed based on the olefin employed.^{68,69,70,71,72,73}

1.3.3 Corey-Chaykovsky Cyclopropanation

Corey-Chaykovsky cyclopropanation(Scheme 1.6)⁷⁴ is a class of Michael-initiated ring closure reactions in which the reaction of a dimethylsulfoxoniummethylide (Corey's reagent) with α , β -unsaturated ketones gives cyclopropyl ketones⁷⁵ or with α , β -unsaturated nitriles gives the corresponding cyclopropylnitriles⁷⁶ in excellent yields.

Since the discovery of dimethylsulfoxoniummethylide, or "the Corey ylide" in1962, the latter has been found very useful in the synthesis of a wide variety of functional groups.⁷⁷ These include cyclopropanes, epoxides, and aziridines, and is one of the most straightforward and often cited cyclopropanation reactions.⁷⁵



Scheme 1.6: General conditions for the Corey-Chaykovsky cyclopropanation.⁷⁴

1.3.4 Cycloisomerization

Rautenstrauch developed a novel approach for the synthesis of cyclopentenones which is known as the Rautenstrauch rearrangement.⁷⁸ When enyne(98) was treated in presence of Pd(II) catalyst, cyclopentenone(99) was isolated in 50–61% yield. According to the mechanism proposed by Rautenstrauch, alkyne undergoes acetoxypalladation to give intermediate(100). On Subsequent displacement of the acetoxonium by the vinylpalladium species a palladacycle(101) has been formed which undergo reductive elimination and hydrolyze to form(99).



A pivotal invention was made by Fensterbank, Malacria and co-workers^{79,80} when dienyne(102) was exposed to $PtCl_2$ at elevated temperatures (Scheme 1.7).



Scheme 1.7: Pt-catalyzed cycloisomerization of enynes and effect of oxygen substitution.

Inspired by these discoveries, Toste and coworkers^{81,82} reported a notable gold(I) catalyzed Rautenstrauch rearrangement in which cyclopentenones generated in high yields from propargylic pivalates. In addition, Fürstner and co-workers⁸³ also contributed a versatile goldand platinum catalyzed method for the synthesis of cyclopropane-substituted cyclopentanones from propargylic acetates. Inspired by biosynthetic considerations, Trauner and Miller and co-workers in 2003, reported a different cycloisomerization reaction which is conceptually distinct from previous work (Scheme 1.8).^{84,85,86}



Scheme 1.8: Polypropionate natural products and Lewis acid-catalyzed cycloisomerization.

1.3.5 Kulinkovich Reaction

Kulinkovich et al.^{87,88} published one of the most exciting reaction in modern organotitanium chemistry. In this reaction, treatment of aliphatic esters with ethylmagnesium bromide in the presence of Ti(OiPr)₄(114) generated 1-alkylcyclopropanolssuch as 116 (Scheme 1.9).^{87,88,89} Kulinkovich and co-workers⁹⁰ also investigated the mechanism of this unusual cyclopropanation by taking the aid of deuterium labeling. Computational study by Wu and Yu,⁹¹ concluded that the reaction proceeds through a titanacyclopropane, or Ti(II) olefin, intermediate.⁹² This is important to note that exchange of ethylene with substituted olefins was possible which enables the generation of more substituted cyclopropanols (cf. 115 \rightarrow 117).⁹³

Chaplinski andde Meijere⁹⁴ and Bertus and Szymoniak,⁹⁵ contributed in two later modifications in which amides and nitriles serve as starting materials, culminating in the generation of aminocyclopropanes (Scheme 1.10).



Scheme 1.9: Kulinkovich reaction.


Scheme 1.10: Modification of Kulinkovich reaction.

1.3.6 Nucleophilic Displacement Reactions

Cyclopropanation of diethyl malonate with 1,2-dibromoethylene in the presence of NaOEt (Scheme 1.11) was reported by W. H. Perkin⁹⁶ in 1884. Numerous studies established that stabilized carbanions undergo analogous double alkylation to furnish cyclopropanes.^{97,98,99}

Pirrung et al.¹⁰⁰ prepared cyclopropanated γ -lactones from the reaction of malonates with epichlorohydrin and a base.

Corey and Chaykovsky^{101,102} discovered that from the reaction of enones and dimethylsulfoxoniummethylide, cyclopropanes are formed. The process is known as the Corey–Chaykovsky reaction.

Buchi et al. in 1966¹⁰³ synthesized cyclopropane containing natural products which became a remarkable landmark in organic synthesis. During the total synthesis of aromadendrene, aldehyde 129 undergo addition of HBr followed by subsequent exposure of the crude bromide to KO^tBu which formed cyclopropane 130 in 41% overall yield.

Notable advantages of this method are the high stereospecificity and broad substrate scope.



Scheme 1.11: Nucleophilic cyclopropanations.

1.4 Different Types of Transition Metal Catalysts for Cyclopropanation Reaction

Transition metal-catalyzed cyclopropanation of olefins via carbene transfer with diazo reagents represents one of the most impactful approaches to the stereoselective preparation of chiral cyclopropane derivatives.¹⁰⁴ Copper, rhodium and more recently, ruthenium and cobalt based catalysts showed high stereocontrol and efficacy in constructing the cyclopropane ring structure.¹⁰⁴ Fewer reports have been published on catalysts based on gold,¹⁰⁵ iron,¹⁰⁶ iridium¹⁰⁷ and osmium¹⁰⁸.

The properties of the transition metals made the differences in the catalytic effects and the scope of applications. For example, because of the air and moisture stability of Au catalysts, a range of precursors can effectively carry on the cyclopropanation reaction using Au catalysts. On the other hand, some of the Rh-catalyzed cyclopropanation reactions involve a C–H activation process.¹⁰⁹

Both Cu¹¹⁰ and Zn¹¹¹ salts are inexpensive compared to the noble metals and zinc is even less toxic. In recent times, some new organozinc reagents were reported that efficiently cyclopropanate some traditionally unreactive alkenes and thereby expand the substrate scope of alkene substrates for olefin cyclopropanation.

1.4.1 Copper-Based Catalysts

Copper is inexpensive with respect to noble metals. In most cases Cu-mediated cyclopropanation can be done under mild reaction conditions with good functional group tolerance and excellent chemical selectivity.

Noyori and coworkers in 1966 first introduced asymmetric cyclopropanation with the use of a copper complex of a chiral salen ligand as the catalyst.¹¹² This is also the first example of enantioselective reaction in a homogenous phase that was catalyzed by a transition metal.

In 2014, Lin et al.¹¹³ developed a Cu(I)-catalyzed enantio-selective hydroboration of 3,3substituted cyclopropenes(131) which gave optically active trans-cyclopropylboronates(133) with excellent enantio-selectivities, superior to the previous reports. Here it is worth mentioning that when the Rh-based catalystwas used, cis-borylated cyclopropanes were obtained (Scheme 1.12).



Scheme 1.12: Cu-Catalyzed enantio-selective synthesis of cyclopropylboronates.

Copper-catalyzed diazo decomposition led to the asymmetric cyclopropanation of 2,5dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene and produces chrysanthemic acid t-butyl ester (136a and 136b) in good yield and high enantioselectivities.¹¹⁴ Chrysanthemic acid t-butyl ester is a key intermediate to pyrethroid insecticides.



Scheme 1.13: Copper catalyzed Cyclopropanation of 2,5-dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene.

By using BOX/Cu(I) as the catalyst, Tang and coworkers achieved the cyclopropanation of both cis- and trans-1,2-disubstitutedalkenes 137 and 138, respectively, with high diastereoand enantio-selectivity. The pendant group of bidentate bisoxazoline (BOX ligands) was assumed to have a positive effect on the yield (Scheme 1.14).





For copper-catalyzed cyclopropanation, bidentate bisoxazoline (Box) ligands have most extensively been studied among all other chiral ligands developed so far. Progress in ligand modification has been carry forwarded to chiral semicorrin $C1^{115}$ and bisoxazoline ligands $L3^{116}$ (Figure 1.6). Different classes of chiral bisoxazolines bearing different geometries and electronic properties of the bridging atoms have been reported (Figure 1.7).^{117,118,119,120,121,122,123,104}



Figure 1.6: Chiral copper semicorrin complex and chiral bisoxazoline ligand.



Figure 1.7: Different chiral bisoxazoline ligands.¹⁰⁴

Apart from bisoxazolines (BOX), other ligands such as C₂-symmetric bipyridine-derived ligand L12,¹²⁴, C₁-symmetric bispidine ligand L13,¹²⁵ chiral binaphthyldiimine L14,¹²⁶ amino alcohol L15,¹²⁷ and L16¹²⁸ were also investigated and employed in the asymmetric cyclopropanation reactions of a series of alkenes with diazoesters (Figure 1.8).



Figure 1.8: Other chiral chelating ligands of copper catalyst.¹⁰⁴

Homogeneous catalysis has some inbuilt problems if compared to its heterogeneous counterpart, such as recyclability and difficulty of separation. Caselli and coworkers¹²⁹ have introduced acyclopropanation reaction using a new heterogenized catalytic system based on a

chiral Cu(I) complex, and carbon dioxide (CO₂) as a vector(Scheme 1.15). In this newly developed heterogenized system, the catalysts were found to be stable, robust, and easily recyclable. So it should find its accountability in terms of synthetic value in cyclopropane construction.¹³⁰



Scheme 1.15: Continuous flow asymmetric cyclopropanation reactions using Cu(I) catalyst and CO_2 as a vector.

1.4.2 Rhodium-Based Catalysts

Rhodium complexes are popular for their ability to activate C–H bonds. However, they also show efficient catalytic ability towards cyclopropanation reactions. Due to the particular atomic structure of rhodium, Rh-carbenoids are more vulnerable to steric interference compared to the corresponding Au-carbenoids, which makes the chiral Rh catalysts to show high regio-, diastereo-, and enantio-control in the cyclopropanation process. Noticeably, some Rh-catalyzed cyclopropanations are initiated by C–H activation. Under the action of Rh-based catalytic systems for cyclopropanation reactions, diazo compounds have been widely used to generate carbene intermediates.

Rhodium complexes are also a well-known family of catalysts for enantioselective cyclopropanation. The dirhodium(II) complexes have already established to be effective catalytic systems for enantioselective cyclopropanation. Because of the electrophilic nature of Rh-bound carbenes, Rh-catalyzed cyclopropanation reactions generally take place in electron rich and electron neutral alkenes rather than electron deficient alkenes.

It is important to mention that after the development of dirhodium(II) carboxamidate and carboxylate catalysts, highly stereoselective reactions with α -diazocarbonyl compounds have been achieved via a variety of reaction modes. Doyle et al. in 1991 first reported Rh₂(5S-MEPY)₄ (C2, Figure 1.9), which showed unique advantages for enantioselective

intramolecular cyclopropanation with allylic diazoacetates (up to 98% ee)¹³¹ and homo allylic diazoacetates 145(up to 90% ee) (eq. 1, Figure 1.9).^{131b}

During intermolecular cyclopropanation, the dirhodium complexes of the azetidinone-based ligand $Rh_2[(S,R)-MenthAZ]_4$ (C5, Figure 1.9) was effective in catalyzing cyclopropanation of terminal olefins using vinyldiazolactone147(eq. 2, Figure 1.9).^{104,132}



Figure 1.9: Different chiral dirhodium(II) carboxamidates.

McKervey and coworkers first reported ligand derived from *N*-arylsulfonylproline for cyclopropanation of α -diazoketones.¹³³ Later, Davies et al. reported one of its derivatives, Rh₂(SDOSP) (C6, Figure 1.10) for cyclopropanation of olefins with vinyldiazomethanes.¹³⁴ They further demonstrated that the catalyst C6 was particularly suitable for the cyclopropanation reactions with donor/acceptor substituted diazoesters. High enantioselectivity was consistently noticed with a range of diazo reagents with aryl or vinyl functionality as the electron-donating group.¹³⁵



Figure 1.10: Different chiral dirhodium(II) carboxylates.

Shortly, Rovis and coworkers^{109b} developed the first Rh(III)-catalyzed cyclopropanation via C–H activation (Scheme 1.16). Most importantly, the newly designed monosubstituted isopropylcyclopentadienyl ligand considerably improved the yield and diastereoselectivity. This is also a rare example of carbocycle synthesis via Rh(III) catalysis.

Rh-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanations between styrenes and aryl diazoacetates are mostly trans-selective. In 2016, Gu et al.¹³⁶ prepared an unique optically active ciscyclopropane carboxylates 153 using Rh-catalyzed cyclopropanation followed by desilylation (Scheme 1.16), in which the inversion in configuration was found. This synthetic strategy is useful for the synthesis of chiral (Z)-1,2-diarylcyclopropane carboxylates, which are typically hard to obtain using traditional methods.



Scheme 1.16: Preparation of optically active cis-cyclopropane carboxylates.

Monomeric rhodium complexes are rare for catalytic asymmetric cyclopropanation. Bergman et al. employed monomeric rhodium(II)-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation with EDA using bisoxazoline as ligand¹³⁷ which falls under a rare example of monomeric rhodium complexes.

In recent times, a new chiral diene ligand for rhodium(I)-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation was reported which is the first successful catalytic system to solve the reactivity and selectivity issue of metal malonate carbene.¹³⁸

1.4.3 Ruthenium-Based Catalysts

Compared to rhodium, the attention given to ruthenium arose from two major driving forces - (1) the price of ruthenium is approximately one tenth of the price of rhodium, and (2) ruthenium complexes have the potential for greater diversity because of larger number of oxidation states and the superior coordination chemistry which ruthenium can offer than those available to rhodium.

Nishiyama et al.¹³⁹ first developed the chiral Ru(pybox) catalyst C9(Figure 1.11) which become one of the most promising catalysts for the cyclopropanation of alkenes with diazoacetates, affording corresponding cyclopropanes in high diastereoselectivities and excellent enantioselectivities (up to 99% ee). Water soluble catalyst C10(Figure 1.11)¹⁴⁰ and ruthenium-thiobox catalysts such as C11(Figure 1.11)¹⁴¹ can also be highlighted as a representative examples of further derivatization of the pybox ligand.¹⁰⁴



Figure 1.11: Chiral ruthenium bis(oxazoline)pyridines complex.

Both Berkessel's group and Che's group reported ruthenium porphyrin complex 154(Figure 1.12) which was successfully employed to catalyze cyclopropanation.¹⁴² Ruthenium porphyrin complexes brought the attention of researchers due to the high catalyst turnovers ($\sim 1.1*10^4$) and high stereoselectivities for cyclopropanation of styrene derivatives with EDA. Simonneaux and coworkers employed the same ruthenium porphyrin complexes for group and atom-transfer reactions toward the synthesis of trifluoromethylphenyl cyclopropanes¹⁴³ and cyclopropylphosphonates.¹⁴⁴



Figure 1.12: Chiral ruthenium porphyrin.¹⁰⁴

Following the success of ruthenium salen for catalytic epoxidation, it's use was extended to cyclopropanation. According to the study of Katsuki et al., a high enantio-and cis-selective

cyclopropanation can be achieved by the salen complex based catalytic system C12(Figure 1.13).¹⁴⁵

However, even under irradiation conditions, the reaction gives low product yields. Afterward, Nguyen and coworkers developed the ruthenium salen complexes containing transcoordinatedpyridine ligands such as C13 (Figure 1.13). These complexes are very efficient catalysts for the asymmetric cyclopropanation of both electron-rich and electron-deficient terminal olefins with EDA. Additionally, they afford high reaction yield and predominantly trans-products with outstandingly high enantioselectivities.¹⁴⁶

In 2001, Mezzetti et al. introduced the first Ru-based catalytic systems, [RuCl(P-NNP)]+ (C14a) [a five-coordinate ruthenium complexes] having diphosphinodiimino ligand which gave high cis-selectivity (Figure 1.13).¹⁴⁷

Scott and coworkers reported another ruthenium complex with a biaryldiimine ligand (C15) (Figure 1.13) to afford excellent diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity in cyclopropanation.¹⁴⁸



Figure 1.13: Chiral ruthenium salen and other Schiff-base complexes.¹⁰⁴

1.4.4 Cobalt-Based Catalysts

Cobalt complexes are one of the most fascinating solutions in catalysis due to their large abundance and the unique reactivity. In 1978, chiral (dioxamato)Co(II) catalysts derived from camphor have been applied for the cyclopropanation of different olefins.¹⁴⁹ The catalysts showed moderate to high reactivity and selectivity. Since then, researchers systematically studied more and more cobalt complexes in the following years. The Co(II) salen catalytic system is attractive due to its high enantioselectivity. However, another property which makes them more interesting is their high cis-selectivity and great chemical yield, which cannot be obtained by the use of ruthenium (NO) salen.

Katsuki et al. studied both Co(III) salenC17 and Co(II) salenC18(Figure 1.14) for intermolecular cyclopropanation.¹⁵⁰ Both systems afforded excellent enantioselectivities. Co(III) salenC16 favored a trans selectivity whereas Co(II) salenC17 favored a cisselectivity.¹⁰⁴



Figure 1.14: Chiral cobalt salen complexes.¹⁰⁴

Zhang and coworkers prepared a number of Co(II) porphyrin complexes which were very efficient catalysts for diastereo- and enantioselective cyclopropanation reactions. The application of these catalysts are not only limited to simple styrene derivatives, the latter also successfully cyclopropanate various challenging substrates such as electron deficient olefins with EDA or *t*BDA.¹⁵¹ Moreover, activating the relative stable acceptor/acceptor diazo reagents (for example- α -nitro-diazoacetates¹⁵² and α -cyanodiazoacetates¹⁵³) could be accomplished by Co(II) porphyrin system for carbene transfer cyclopropanation.

1.5 Catalytic Mechanisms

The mechanism of the cyclopropanation of olefin via diazo reagent decomposition is considered to involve carbene formation followed by the interaction of the olefin to produce the cyclopropanes and its derivatives. Common accepted mechanisms for cyclopropanation from transition metal catalyzed carbene transfer reactions are mainly of three types: 1. concerted asynchronous mechanism; 2. coordination mechanism and 3. stepwise radical addition mechanism.¹⁰⁴ Based on the characteristic features of different transition metals, their mechanisms are dissimilar because their demands for diazo and olefins in terms of steric and electronic nature are dissimilar, too.

1.5.1 Concerted Asynchronous Mechanism

According to this mechanism, extremely reactive metal carbene intermediate I1 has formed from interaction of the diazo compound and the catalyst with parallel extrusion of nitrogen, followed by the attack from alkene (I2, Figure 1.15)in a side-on approach. Cyclopropane product formed via a concerted mechanism from the interaction between carbene with one of the carbon atoms from the C=C bond followed by the final ring closure. Copper¹⁵⁴, rhodium^{134,155} and ruthenium¹⁵⁶ based metal complexes those carbene complexes are very electrophilic and falls under Fisher-type carbene usually follow this mechanism.



Figure 1.15: Concerted asynchronous mechanism.

1.5.2 The Coordination Mechanism

The coordination mechanism (Figure 1.16) and the concerted mechanism are complementary to each other. But the real scenario of coordination mechanism is still not clear.¹⁵⁷ It is believed that complexes may rearrange to metallacyclobutane (I4, Figure 1.16) via the simultaneous coordination of carbene and alkene at the metal center (I3, Figure 1.16). Thus, reductive elimination of the metal fragment generated the desired cyclopropanes.



Figure 1.16: The coordination mechanism.

1.5.3 Stepwise Radical Addition Mechanism

This mechanism (Figure 1.17) was only postulated for cobalt carbene complexes which involve metalloradical carbene I5 formation.¹⁵⁸ Metalloradical carbene specie is best described as a one-electron-reduced Fischer-type carbene,¹⁵⁹ followed by the radical addition to alkenes, form a new carbene based free carbon radical I6, the final step of ring closure generate the desired cyclopropane product.



Figure 1.17: Stepwise radical addition mechanism.

Chapter 2 Project Description

Catalysis is central to modern chemical industry and about 90% of the currently applied industrial processes employ some form of catalyst. Most of the reported catalysts, both homogeneous and heterogeneous, are based on noble metals. However, apart from the economic reasons to replace them, concern is raising about the limited amount of these metals that is available on the Earth crust and the serious risk that mankind may run out of them in a few decades. An increasing attention has thus been devoted in recent years to the development of catalysts based on much more abundant first row elements. Among these, cobalt and especially iron have attracted the largest interest. However, it should be remembered that these two metals were deeply investigated in the first part of the 20th century and they were replaced by their second and third transition series congeners because the latter displayed such a better activity/selectivity performance to make their much higher price a less important point. Examples of large-scale processes that followed this process are methanol carbonylation to acetic acid, initially run with cobalt (BASF process), then with rhodium (Monsanto process) and now with iridium (BP Cativa process), and propylene hydroformylation (initially cobalt and now almost exclusively rhodium). It is clear that simply going back to a surpassed chemistry cannot be the solution and new ways have to be found to make first-row transition metals as active and as selective as their heavier counterparts or at least to approach the performance of the latter.

Whereas the use of non-innocent ligands is gaining interest in the field of homogeneous catalysis as a way of "nobilitating" first-row transition metals, an approach that is gaining an increasing attention in the field of heterogeneous catalysts is the thermolysis of preformed metal complexes.¹⁶⁰ Such an approach was originally developed to increase the activity of graphite electrodes in electrochemical processes, especially oxygen reduction, (by pyrolysing in an inert atmosphere metal complexes with nitrogen ligands adsorbed on graphite electrodes).¹⁶¹ The aim was to make them more competitive with platinum electrodes reducing the overpotentials typical of graphite. The pyrolysis approach has been recently revamped of Beller at the Likat by the group in Rostock (Germany).^{162,163,164,165,166,167,168,169,170,171,172,173,174,175} Beller and coworkers prepared several previously known complexes, mostly based on cobalt or iron, , but nickel was also

investigated,¹⁷⁶ with heterocyclic nitrogen ligands, most often phenanthroline. The so obtained complexes were adsorbed on activated carbon powder or other inorganic supports (alumina, ceria, silica) and the resulting solids were pyrolyzed in an argon atmosphere at temperatures ranging from 400 to 1000 °C. Under these conditions, the complexes decompose and generate core shell metal or metal oxide nanoparticles, covered by nitrogenenriched graphitic layers. The latter still enclose part of the metal, which remains coordinated to some nitrogen atoms, though the original ligand is no longer present as a clearly identifiable molecule, but is fused in the graphitic layer. If the thermolysis temperature is too low to fully decompose the ligand (e.g. below 350 °C) the obtained material has no catalytic activity, but if graphitization has occurred, the obtained materials display catalytic activities that are not observable either with the starting complex or with heterogeneous catalyst based on the reduced metal or any metal oxide. (Figures 2.1 and 2.2)



Figure 2.1: Synthesis of an active cobalt oxide–nitrogen/carbon catalyst by pyrolysis of a cobalt(II) acetate–phenanthroline complex on carbon.¹⁷³



Figure 2.2: Nanoscaled Fe/Fe₂O₃ particles surrounded by nitrogen-doped graphene layers.¹⁶⁵

Moreover, no catalytic activity is observed if the ligand itself is thermolyzed under the same conditions, but in the absence of the metal. This is a relevant point because nitrogen-enriched graphite is known to have catalytic properties itself,¹⁷⁷ even though it should be noted that such properties are usually displayed only by materials that have a much higher nitrogen

content (such as C_3N_4) than the one featured by the materials obtained in the works by Beller and others. Moreover, even materials obtained by absorbing a simple metal salt (without any nitrogen ligand) on carbon and thermolyzing the so obtained solid have no catalytic activity, indicating that all components of the system are necessary to get the final result. As a strong point, the presented catalytic materials display complete air and moisture stability for months, thus avoiding the use of distilled solvents and an inert atmosphere.

The pyrolyzed material are usually named indicating first the metal or metal oxide that constitute the core of the nanoparticle, than "NGr", meaning nitrogen-doped-graphene, and finally the support employed in the preparation, preceded by the symbol @. For example, $Co_3O_4/NGr@C$ is catalyst where the core is mainly Co_3O_4 (the composition of the core is rarely uniform, some metallic cobalt is always present in cobalt catalysts) and has been generated by adsorbing a cobalt complex (the identity of the ligand is not indicated in the name) on activated carbon. Such materials have been characterized by a range of techniques. In all cases, nanoparticles of different sizes were detected with a metal/metal oxide core, surrounded by a few nitrogen-enriched graphene layers. These layers completely cover some of the nanoparticles, but leave some metal/metal oxide areas exposed in others. Moreover, some metal atoms are retained in the graphitic layer, bound to some of the nitrogen atoms originally coordinated to the metal in the starting complex.

Nitrogen-doped porous carbon (NPC) materials have drawn intensive attention for heterogeneous catalytic reactions or catalyst supports.^{160,178,179,180,174,164,181,182,183,184} Conventional porous carbon materials such as activated carbon (AC) was traditionally synthesized through pyrolysis and the physical or chemical activation of raw materials such as coal, wood or fruit shells at elevated temperatures.¹⁸⁵ AC has long been used as an excellent sorbent and support for NPs in catalytic reactions¹⁸⁶ due to its various valuable properties: high specific area, large pore volume, different available surface properties such as heteroatom doping and hydrophilicity, and low cost. Although it has a wide range of newly developed applications, AC still suffers from limitations arising from the methods used in the production. The main drawbacks are as follows: 1) the pores are restricted mainly to micropores with a very narrow size distribution, which limits the mass transfer of molecules in reactions; 2) the micropores (<2 nm) largely restrict the full utilization of deposited NPs (usually >2 nm), causing the NPs to disperse only on the carbon surface and further aggregate and leach easily; 3) the architecture and nano-dimensions of AC cannot be easily tuned for specific catalytic uses; and 4) the surface functional groups need to be further tailored for

specific needs by secondary functionalization to create, for example, N-containing groups. To overcome all these limitations, nitrogen-doped porous carbon materials have recently become a hot topic in research.

Usually, nitrogen functionalities can enhance the interaction between carbon surfaces and reaction molecules.¹⁸⁷ Hydrophilicity of NPC can be enhanced through nitrogen doping and therefore greatly improve catalyst dispersion in aqueous media and in turn contribute to a better catalytic performance.¹⁸⁸ Spin density and charge distribution of carbon atoms will be influenced by the neighboring nitrogen dopants,^{183,189} which may generate increased defects and more active sites. On the other hand, the electronegativity ingenerated in the carbon structure because of the doped nitrogen may stabilize deposited metal with small size and narrow distribution and increase the metal–carbon binding energy. All in all in turn improves the catalytic activity and reaction stability of the consequential NPC supported catalyst in heterogeneous catalytic reactions.^{178,182,104} Therefore, in addition to N-CNTs¹⁹⁰ and N-graphene¹⁹¹ in the NPC family, new generations of NPC materials are also promising catalysts or catalyst supports because of their excellent properties, ease of handling and large-scale production. In the following paragraphs, the general structure of N-enriched graphitic catalysts has been illustrated by two representative examples.

Beller and coworkers described the use of a nanostructured iron-based catalyst for the tandem reductive amination between nitroarenes and aldehydes using hydrogen as reductant.^{192,202} These iron-based nanoparticles and agglomerates with varying sizes from 5 to 200 nm were prepared from Fe(OAc)₂ and 1,10-phenanthroline, which were adsorbed and subsequently pyrolyzed at 800°C for 2 hours onto Vulcan XC72R as carbon support under an argon atmosphere (metal/ligand (M/L) ratio 1:3).^{193,194} The metal-based particles are surrounded by individually nitrogen-enriched graphene-type layers (NGr), which are formed through the carbonization of the nitrogen ligand (Figure 2.3 C).^{194,195,196} The as obtained core–shell structured nanoiron-based catalyst is illustrated in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.3: Selected a) BF- and b) HAADF-TEM images of the carbon supported iron-based catalyst. c) Visualization of graphene-layers of Fe₂O₃/NGr@C by BF-TEM.²⁰²

The presence of such a composite is established by the X-ray diffraction (XRD) study (Figure 2.4) as well as Energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) spectroscopy with the observed elements (Figure 2.5). X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) revealed two distinct nitrogen species (pyridinic, pyrrolic) incorporated in the graphene lattice as well as nitrogen atoms bound to the iron (Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.4: Diffraction pattern of Fe₂O₃/NGr@C for 1g-, 5g- and 10g-scale.²⁰²



Figure 2.5: Selected EDX spectrum of Fe₂O₃/NGr@C catalyst.²⁰²



Figure 2.6: N1s spectrum of the Fe₂O₃/NGr@C catalyst.²⁰²

Catalysts based on silica and MgO have never been reported before. No characterization was made apart from the elemental analysis for these catalysts because it was considered that it would have been worth to spent time on that only if they had provided better results, which was not our case.

Another representative example of N-enriched graphitic catalyst can be illustrated by coreshell structured $Co_3O_4/NGr@C$ catalyst for general and selective reductive amination, reported by Beller et al.¹⁷⁰ A defined complex prepared from $Co(OAc)_2$ and 1,10phenanthroline was adsorbed and subsequently pyrolysed onto Vulcan XC72R as carbon support under Ar atmosphere (M/L ratio 1 : 2). Prof. Beller's research group noticed that pyrolysis at 800 °C for 2 h led to the most active hydrogenation and oxidation catalyst system. The material consists of well-defined cobalt-based nanoparticles with varying sizes of 2–20 nm as well as particles and agglomerates in the range of 20–200 nm. SEM images depict the chemical constitution of the catalyst surface which is a high contrast image of unequally distributed particles against the background(HAADF). (Figure 2.7)



Figure 2.7: SEM (left) and HAADF-TEM (right) images of the carbon supported cobalt catalyst. 170

They scaled up the catalyst preparation to 10 g-scale and they obtained defined crystallites, which contain active single nanoparticles as core–shell structured Co/Co₃O₄ nanocomposites. The presence of such composites is confirmed by XRD powder diffraction and EPR measurements and corresponding elements were also confirmed by EDX-mapping (Figure 2.8a). In addition, the Co-based particles are encapsulated by individually nitrogen riched graphene-type layers (NGr), which were formed through the carbonization of the nitrogen ligand (Figure 2.8b).¹⁹⁵ Three distinct nitrogen species were detected by XPS analysis: pyridinic and pyrrolic nitrogen as well as quaternary amine species. Deconvolution indicated that around 64% of all N atoms are bound to the metal ions. Based on spectroscopic studies, Beller and coworkers designed a simple 3D-model to get a general idea about the core–shell structured catalyst (Figure 2.8c). This simple 3D-model is analogous to the Fe₂O₃/NGR@C as discussed earlier (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.8: (a) EDXS-mapping of Co/Co₃O₄ crystallites; cobalt (red), oxygen(green) and carbon (blue) of Co₃O₄/NGr@C. (b) Bright field TEM images to illustrate formed graphene layers. (c) Illustration of multi core–shell structured Co-Co₃O₄/NGr@C nanoparticles.¹⁷⁰

The identity of the catalytically active species has not been definitely identified in general. It may be the metal atom retained in the surface graphitic layer or a part of the metal/metal oxide core close to the edge of the graphene layer, so that a close proximity exists between some metal and nitrogen atoms. However, a growing evidence in favor of the former hypothesis is being accumulated recently^{173,174,197,198} and this possibility has been considered as a working hypothesis in the following.

At the University of Milan, our research group has recently started a collaboration with Prof. Beller and two joint papers have already been published.¹⁹⁹ Thus, the conditions to take the project to a successful end are present. Catalysts were prepared and characterized in Rostock, where the necessary apparatus is present, while other activities described below have been conducted in Milano.

2.1 Objective of the Project

The aim of this project is to expand the field of applicability of a the class of catalysts described above and in particular, of that based on iron.

Up to now NGr catalysts have been most often used for the hydrogenation of nitrobenzene^{164,167,169,173,174,199a,200} and fewer reports have been published on the hydrogenation of other polar substrates,^{162,169} several oxidation or oxidative coupling reactions,^{166,168,171-172,175,197,201} and a few reactions involving hydrogen transfer.^{163,165,167,170,202} In the work in collaboration with the group of Ragaini,^{199a} it was shown that the addition of triethylamine promotes the activity of both Fe₂O₃/NGr@C and Co-Co₃O₄/NGr@C catalysts in the hydrogenation of nitroarenes. This observation is consistent with a heterolytic activation of dihydrogen and points to a catalyst in which the oxidation state of the metal is not low (0/-1). Indeed the coordination environment in the NGr layer should not be suitable for stabilizing such low oxidation states. Thus, if one wants to identify a new reaction for which these catalysts may be active, he should look for a reaction that is promising on this respect is olefin cyclopropanation. Such a reaction is known to be catalyzed by both Co(II) and Fe(II) complexes with nitrogen ligands,²⁰³ a configuration that should be analogous to the one adopted by the metal in the NGr layer.

Along with soluble metal catalysts, extensively discussed in Chapter 1, immobilized complexes (mainly based on Cu and, to a less extent, on Ru and Rh) were also described.

However, very few works described the use of nanostructured or truly heterogeneous catalysts. After an isolated pioneering work by Mayoral in 1997,²⁰⁴ Cu NPs onto TiO₂-Al₂O₃,²⁰⁵ Al₂O₃²⁰⁶ and core-shell Fe-Fe_xO_y²⁰⁷ were reported. More recently, the groups of Coleman and Mack described the use of an Ag foil as recyclable catalyst under mechanochemical conditions.²⁰⁸

Diazo compounds are typically employed as carbene precursors in cyclopropanation reactions. In this work, the use of ethyldiazoacetate has to be initially tested as the carbene source. Since ethyldiazoacetate is relatively stable, with respect to other diazo derivatives, and commercially available at a convenient price. Other in-house prepared diazo derivatives have also tested to verify and prove the general applicability of the reaction. These diazo derivatives (except for other diazoacetates) need to be synthesized and used within a limited amount of time because they tend to decompose even when stored under dinitrogen and in a refrigerator. In any case, it should be noted that the ethyl ester group that remains attached to the cyclopropyl moiety adopting this procedure is a versatile group. It can be hydrolyzed to the corresponding carboxylic group that, in turn, can be transformed into other functional groups by classical organic reactions such as amidation, reduction and even Curtius rearrangement.

Different olefins were also employed. Styrene and substituted styrenes were initially tested because they are quite reactive in this kind of transformation and commercially available with numerous substituent both on the aryl ring and on the double bond, allowing for an analysis of the effect of electronic and steric effects on the outcome of the reaction. Other olefins have than been tested to verify if the reaction can also be run on aliphatic olefins (terminal, internal, cyclic).

Chapter 3 Results and Discussions

Many homogeneous complexes have been reported to successfully catalyze olefin cyclopropanation by diazo compounds (Fe, Ru, Co, Cu).²⁰⁹ Along with soluble metal catalysts, immobilized complexes (mainly based on Cu and to a less extent on Ru and Rh) were also described. However, very few works described the use of nanostructured or truly heterogeneous catalysts. After an isolated pioneering work by Mayoral in 1997,²⁰⁴ Cu NPs onto TiO_2 -Al₂O₃,²⁰⁵Al₂O₃²⁰⁶ and core-shell Fe-Fe_xO_y²⁰⁷ were reported. More recently, the groups of Coleman and Mack described the use of an Ag foil as recyclable catalyst under mechanochemical conditions.²⁰⁸

Yet now research has not extensively progressed on heterogeneous catalysts for cyclopropanation reaction. Anyway, with regard to the use of heterogeneous catalysts, copper bronze is a traditional catalyst in cyclopropanation reactions. Fraile et al. reported several copper-exchanged and CuCl₂-supported solids, together with copper oxide, which promote cyclopropanation reaction of styrene with ethyl diazoacetate.²⁰⁴ The most interesting result revealed from their study is the fine tuning of trans/cis stereoselectivity by altering the nature of the catalyst. The authors concluded from their experimental study that the less sterically hindered cyclopropane (trans or exo) is obtained as a major product when the reaction occurs on homogeneous copper catalysts. However, in some cases by using Cu(II)-exchanged K10-montmorillonite most hindered (cis or endo) cyclopropane product is predominantly obtained, so that the selectivity is reversed with regard to that observed with copper homogeneous catalysts.

Few other copper based heterogeneous catalysts have been reported for cyclopropanation reactions using supports, such as a polymer,²¹⁰ aluminum oxide,²⁰⁵ silica gel,²¹¹ zeolite,²¹² or clay.²¹³ In 2003, Liu et al. reported that CuO over monolayer TiO₂-Al₂O₃ catalyzed the cyclopropanation of ethyl diazoacetate with styrene in yields up to 94%.²⁰⁵ Copper bronze is a traditional catalyst in cyclopropanation reactions.²⁰⁴

In 2008, Lim et al. achieved asymmetric cyclopropanation using chiral aza(bisoxazoline)copper (I) catalyst on siliceous mesocellular form (MCF) to provide the desired products in about 80% yield and 92% ee up to eight cycles without significant loss of catalytic activity.^{211b} In 2011, Shi et al. reported metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) based on copper (I) sulfate and 4,4'-bipyridine catalyzing the cyclopropanation of styrene.²¹⁴ The catalysts showed high trans diastereoselectivity and were reusable up to three times, despite a low styrene conversion of 30%.

Li et al. demonstrated simple bare copper-plated iron nanoparticles (Cu@FeNPs) as a good catalyst for the cyclopropanation of ethyl diazoacetate with styrene derivatives.²¹⁵ The catalysts are magnetically recoverable. The catalyst provided the desired cyclopropanes in moderate to very good yields with trans selectivity. Li and coworkers scaled up the reaction to 1 g. The catalysts were recycled up to five times and showed no significant loss of catalytic activity. The same authors also explored the reaction mechanism. The majority of Cu after reaction features an oxidation state of +1.

Can, Li and coworkers developed a few heterogeneous catalysts based on cupric oxide supported on different inorganic supports and employed them to catalyze the cyclopropanation of styrene and 2,5-dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene with ethyl diazoacetate (EDA).²⁰⁵ The catalytic performance for cyclopropanation was found to strongly depend on the nature of the support. Cupric oxide showed much higher catalytic activity for cyclopropanation after being dispersed on most of the supports. A novel catalyst, CuO/TiO₂-Al₂O₃, in which Al₂O₃ is modified with a monolayer of TiO₂, was found to be most active and selective for the cyclopropanation reaction. The highest activity and selectivity to cyclopropanes (over 93% yield) were achieved on the CuO/TiO₂-Al₂O₃ catalyst. The catalysts with the monolayer loading of cupric oxide on the corresponding support provide the highest yield, selectivity and trans:cis ratio to cyclopropanes. Under the reaction conditions, copper(II) might be reduced to the lower valence state, which shows higher activity for the cyclopropanation reactions.

Kantam et al. prepared Alumina supported copper (Cu–Al₂O₃) nanoparticles which constitute an effective catalyst for the aziridination and cyclopropanation of olefins using PhI = NTs and EDA as nitrene and carbene sources respectively.²⁰⁶ The catalyst was recycled for several cycles and showed consistent activity.

Hence, we became interested in developing a novel and sustainable catalytic protocol for this reaction. We initially explored the activity of Fe/Phen@C-800in the reaction of α -methylstyrene1a with ethyl diazoacetate (EDA) as the model transformation (Scheme 3.1). The Fe/Phen@C-800 catalyst is able to efficiently catalyze this reaction affording the cyclopropane2a from very high to excellent yields and with a moderate diasteroselectivity in favor of the trans- isomer.

Control experiments effected by employing catalysts prepared by the same procedure employed for Fe/Phen@C-800, but omitting either $Fe(OAc)_2$ or Phen, or by using $Fe(OAc)_2$ and Phen as such resulted in no detectable formation of cyclopropane (Table 3.1, entries 6 - 8).



Scheme 3.1: Cyclopropanation of 2a using Fe/Phen@C-800 as catalyst.

The nature of the solvent has a minimal influence both on the reaction yield and diasteroselectivity making this reaction versatile from the media profile. 1,2-Dimethoxyethane (DME) was then chosen as the solvent for further optimization (Table 3.1, entry 5). The variation of the reaction temperature (Table 3.2, entries 1, 2 and 4) furnished the product in slightly lower yield. It should be underlined that in all the cases in which a 5-fold amount of the olefin with respect to the diazo compound has been used, homocoupling products (diethyl fumarate and diethyl maleate) deriving from EDA were detected in very low amount (<5 %). Only when the amount of **1a** was decreased (1.5 eq) homocoupling side products increased, although a very good yield of the cyclopropane was maintained (Table 3.3, entry 3), demonstrating the applicability of the procedure even to more expensive olefins. Interestingly, the catalyst is water tolerant and only a slightly decreased yield was obtained using a "wet" solvent (Table 3.3, entry 4).

In addition, we verified that a change in the catalyst support from carbon to inorganic oxides (MgO or SiO₂) does not affect the yield and the diasteroselectivity (Scheme 3.2).

Given the good results obtained and the apparent robustness of the catalyst, the reaction scope was investigated (Scheme 3.3).

	0	Fe/Phen@C-800	Me,, 🔨 "COOE	Et Me////H
+	OEt	(18.5 mg, 2 mol% Fe)	Н	+ COOEt
	N_2	60°C, 4h		
1a			trans- 2a	cis- 2a

Entry	Solvent	Diethylfumarateyie ld [%] ^[b]	Diethylmaleate yield [%] ^[b]	2a yield [%] ^[b]	<i>trans:cis</i> ratio ^[b]
1	Benzene	traces	3	96	72:28
2	1,2- Dichloroethane	-	1	96	79:21
3	<i>n</i> -Hexane	1	5	84	74:26
4	CH ₃ CN	-	1	89	75:25
5	1,2- Dimethoxyethane	-	>1	99	74:26
6 ^[c]	1,2- Dimethoxyethane	<1	<1	<1	-
7 ^[d]	1,2- Dimethoxyethane	<1	<1	<1	-
8 ^[e]	1,2- Dimethoxyethane	<1	<1	<1	-

Table 3.1: Cyclopropanation of **1a** with Fe/Phen@C-800 as catalyst: effect of solvent and control experiments.^[a]

[a] Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol**1a**, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (corresponding to 2 mol% Fe), 3 mL solvent, at 60 °C for 4h. [b] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (2,4-dinitrotoluene as an internal standard). [c] The reaction was conducted using Fe@C-800 as catalyst. [d] The reaction was conducted using Phen@C-800 as catalyst. [d] The reaction was conducted using Phen@C-800 as catalyst. [e] The reaction was conducted using Fe(OAc)₂ (1.7 mg, 1,0 10⁻²mmol) + Phen (3.8 mg, 2.1 10^{-2} mmol) as catalyst.



Entry	Temperature [° C]	Time [h]	Diethylmaleate yield [%] ^[b]	Diethylmaleate yield [%] ^[b]	2a yield [%]	<i>trans:cis</i> ratio
1	50	4	-	1	98	73:27
2	40	4	-	2	92	75:25
3	40	6	-	3	97	74:26
4	70	4	-	2	97	71:29

Table 3.2: Cyclopropanation of **1a** with Fe/Phen@C-800as catalyst: effect of temperature.^[a] [a] Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol**1a**, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (corresponding to 2 mol% Fe), 3 mL DME. [b] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (2,4dinitrotoluene as an internal standard).



Entry	Cat. loading [mg]	Olefin loading (eq)	Diethylfumarate yield [%] ^[b]	Diethylmaleate yield [%] ^[b]	2a yield [%]	<i>trans:cis</i> ratio
1	14.9	5	-	>1	85	73:27
2	9.8	5	-	1	71	74:26
3	18.5	1.5	2	10	86	70:30
4 ^[c]	18.5	5	-	_	71	73:27

Table 3.3: Cyclopropanation of **1a** with Fe/Phen@C-800 as catalyst: effect of catalyst and olefin loading.^[a]

[a] Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol**1a**, x mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (corresponding to x(2/18.5) mol% Fe), 3 mL DME. [b] Determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (2,4-dinitrotoluene as internal standard). [c] Water was added (10 v/v%)



Scheme 3.2: Cyclopropanation of **1a** with different Fe-catalysts under optimized conditions: effect of the support.^[a]

[a] Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol1a, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@support-800, 3 mL solvent, at 60°C for 4h. Yields and d.r. determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy (2,4-dinitrotoluene as an internal standard).



Scheme 3.3: Substrate scope with respect to olefins.

Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol alkene, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (corresponding to 2 mol% Fe), 3 mL DME at 60°C for 4h. Yields refer to the isolated compounds (sum of the *trans-* and *cis-* diasteroisomers). Diastereomeric ratios (dr) are based on separated diasteromers. [a] Isolated yield of the major isomer in parentheses, dr measured by ¹H NMR. [b] Only major isomer isolated, drmeasured by ¹H NMR.[c] 1.5 mmol alkene was employed. [d] Reaction time: 8h. Isolated as isomeric mixture. Where possible, dr measured by ¹HNMR.

Styrene and its simple methyl derivatives (1b-1e) gave the corresponding cyclopropanes in high yield regardless of the position of the methyl moiety on the arene ring. Either substrates with mildly (1f) or strongly (1g) electron-donating groups afforded the corresponding cyclopropanes in very high yields. Halogen containing substrates (1h-1j, 1m, 1p, 1q) were well tolerated, maintaining intact the C-X bond, which could serve for further functionalization, and also a very electron poor substrate such as pentafluoro styrene (1p) afforded the cyclopropane in good yield. In addition a styrene substituted with a benzyloxy group (1 n) afforded the corresponding cyclopropane in good yield. The benzyloxy group is widely used in organic chemistry as protecting group for hydroxyl moieties. Indeed cleavage of the benzyl ether could allow further functionalization and thus to synthesize more complex molecules. Notably, more challenging aliphatic substrates such as 1-octene (1t) and β -pinene gave the product in satisfactory yields. Using vinyl cyclohexene (1u) the cyclopropanation reaction occurs regioselectively on the terminal olefinic bond maintaining intact the internal one. The selectivity for the terminal double bond in **1u** is explained by the lack of activity of the catalyst in the case of internal olefin (Figure 3.1), most likely due to a hindered approach of the substrate to the carbene formed on the surface of the catalyst.



Figure 3.1: Examples of internal olefins unreactive under optimized reaction conditions.^[a] [a] Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol EDA, 2.50 mmol**1a**, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (corresponding to 2 mol% Fe), 3 mL 1,2-dimethoxyethane, at 60°C for 8h.

Under the optimized conditions, the scope of some diazo compound was also examined (Scheme 3.4). Mono substituted diazo compounds (ester or ketone) afforded the corresponding cyclopropanes 2aa - 2ab in excellent yields. Interestingly the use of more sterically demanding diazo compounds has a dramatic effect on the diastero selection, furnishing the *cis*- isomer only in traces. Disubstituted diazomethanes proved to be more challenging. Diphenyl diazomethane failed to afford 2ac under standard conditions, although it yielded the product in moderate yield at a higher temperature and longer reaction time (100°C for 8h in toluene), while the more stable diazomalonate did not react even under these conditions.



Scheme 3.4: Substrate scope with respect to diazo compounds. Reaction conditions: 0.50 mmol3a-d, 2.50 mmol alkene, 18.5 mg Fe/Phen@C-800 (2 mol% Fe), 3 mL DME, at 60°C for 4h. Isolated yields are reported, dr measured by ¹H NMR. [b] Reaction conditions: 100°C in toluene for 8h.

In order to better demonstrate the practical utility of this protocol, the scalability and recyclability of the system were studied. The model reaction has been successfully scaled-up to 15-fold without significant variations of yield and diasteroisomeric ratio compared to the small-scale run. Regarding the recyclability, a progressive decrease of the activity was observed along the runs (D.1 in Figure 3.2, cycles 1-5). ICP analysis of the solution after the first run showed a negligible (ca. 0.1%) loss of iron from the catalyst, so that this cannot be the reason for deactivation. In order to make the whole process both efficient and effective, two routes of reactivation were explored. The spent catalyst obtained after 5 runs (Fe/Phen@C-800_S) was thermally treated under inert atmosphere (R.1 in Figure 3.2). However, despite a partial reactivation was gained, still complete conversion of EDA was not achieved. On the contrary, by subjecting Fe/Phen@C-800 S to mild oxidizing conditions $(H_2O_2 3 v/v\%$ aqueous solution), the initial catalyst activity was restored (R.2 in Figure 3.2). The reactivated, Fe/Phen@C-800_R, could be further recycled as the fresh one (Figure 3.2, cycle 7). Oxidative regeneration is typical for catalyst that suffers of physicochemical deactivation (e.g. fouling or poisoning). The phenomenon is derived from the adsorption or chemisorption of species on the active sites thus decreasing the overall activity.²¹⁶ Olefins (and in particular styrenes) may undergo polymerization or oligomerization processes. Indeed, we verified that complete deactivation of the catalyst occurs even by treating the material only with styrene under the reaction conditions and the activity is restored by oxidative treatment (refer to Chapter 4 for experimental details). This result indicates the polymerization of the olefin on the catalytic surface as a possible cause for the deactivation rather than a mechanical or thermal modification of the catalyst.



Figure 3.2: Recycling and reactivation steps.

To further elucidate the reason for the declined activity, the fresh, spent and regenerated catalysts were characterized by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) and scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM). XPS N1s analysis showed common peaks at around 399 eV, 400 eV and 401 eV for all the materials (Figure 3.3-7). These results are in agreement with three different nitrogen bonding situations, namely N bonded in residual organic matrices and/or Fe-N_x centers, pyrrolic-N and graphitic-N, respectively.^{194, 217} A minor peak at 398.1 eV ascribed to pyridinic-N has been detected in Fe/Phen@C-800_S. C1s XPS displayed an analogous pattern for all the materials (Figure 3.3). Indeed, signals corresponding to C=C (284.8 eV), C=N or C-O (approximately at 285 eV), C-N or C=O (285-291 eV) functionalities can be detected.²¹⁸ Deconvolution of the Fe2p_{3/2} region shows four pairs of peaks that can be attributed to various Fe states. Peaks at around 708 eV, 711 eV and 714 eV in the region correspond to Fe(0), Fe(II) and Fe(III), respectively.²¹⁹

with the previous results from N1s spectra.²²⁰ Finally, the interpretation of the O1s region is not trivial because of the large amount of oxygen functionalities both derived from oxygen groups present in the carbonaceous matrix²²¹ and iron oxides.²²²



Figure 3.3: XPS analyses (survey) of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A), Fe/Phen@C-800_S (B) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (C).



Figure 3.4: XPS analyses (C1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and Fe/Phen@C-800_R.



Figure 3.5: XPS analyses (O1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and Fe/Phen@C-800_R.


Figure 3.6: XPS analyses (Fe2p) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and Fe/Phen@C-800_R.



Figure 3.7: XPS analyses (N1s) of Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@C-800_S and Fe/Phen@C-800_R.

For this reason, unambiguous assignments are not possible. STEM images and analytical data of the three materials were then acquired. As depicted in Figure 3.8, the annular dark field (ADF) STEM images and related elemental maps showed the presence of Fe, N, O on carbon

support. Nitrogen is mainly distributed in a phase also containing C, O and Fe on the surface of the support alongside Fe-based particles.







Figure 3.8: ADF-STEM images and EELS elemental maps of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A), Fe/Phen@C-800_S (B) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (C).

In addition to the elemental maps, the different contrast visible in both the annular bright field (ABF) and high angle annular dark field (HAADF) images (Figure 3.9) confirmed the predominant presence of probably metallic Fe NPs in addition to Fe oxide NPs. Whereas

layers of graphene cover the former, the latter is uncovered thus indicating a possible protecting role of graphene towards oxidation. The nitrogen-doped amorphous carbonaceous matrix attached to the support showed the presence of dispersed Fe clusters. Their identity is also confirmed by electron energy loss spectra (Figure 3.12 B). The complex pattern revealed by Fe2p XPS spectra reflects the variety of iron functionalities (metallic Fe, FeO_x, FeN_x centers) in the material. Spent catalyst (Fe/Phen@C-800_S) showed similar structures: still defined Fe-based NPs (mainly metallic and in less extent oxidic) enveloped in carbon shells and dispersed iron clusters can be clearly observed (Figure 3.8B, Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.12C). Finally, the reactivated catalyst Fe/Phen@C-800_R generally showed more extended oxidic particles, however maintaining intact the small iron clusters (Figure 3.8C, 3.11, S12D). The general morphology and distribution of Fe, N, O and C remains similar between the three different states of the catalyst as shown by the STEM data. Combined with the small changes in electronic structure revealed by XPS, the data are consistent with the deactivation of the catalyst being due to fouling, which is removed by the H₂O₂ treatment, rather than by a structural change of the catalyst itself.



Figure 3.9: HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A) showing high resolution images of a metallic Fe particle accompanied by a small Fe oxide particle (refer to Figure 3.8A), the ABF image on the right highlights the enclosure of the metallic particle by some graphene layers. Line (B) shows a representative overview of an agglomeration of some support particles with their Fe particles, line (C) a more detailed view of the edge regions of some support particles and (D) high resolution images of the mixed C, N, O phase containing Fe clusters (some marked by arrows, refer to Figure 3.12 B).



Figure 3.10: HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of Fe/Phen@C-800_S. Line (A) showing a carbon enclosed metallic Fe particle, line (B) a general overview (corresponding to the area of Figure 3.8B) and line (C) a high resolution image of the C, N, O phase with its Fe clusters.



Figure 3.11: HAADF- (left column) and ABF- (right column) STEM images of Fe/Phen@C-800_R.Line (A) showing a carbon enclosed metallic Fe particle, line (B) a representative general overview of agglomerated support particles with their Fe particles. Line (C) a close up of the edge of such an agglomeration and line (D) a high resolution image of the C, N, O phase with its Fe clusters.



Figure 3.12 ADF-STEM images and EELS spectra from indicated areas of Fe/Phen@C-800 (A and B), Fe/Phen@C-800_S (C) and Fe/Phen@C-800_R (D). Lines (A), (C) and (D) show exemplary spectra of the spectrum imaging data sets used to calculate the corresponding elemental maps in Figure 3.8. They also show a certain N and Fe content besides the carbon in areas close to the surface of the support particles. Area 3 in line (B) shows the spectrum of the region also shown in high resolution in Figure 3.9D, verifying the presence of Fe at this position and supporting the interpretation of the clusters with brighter contrast there to be of Fe.

	С	0	Ν	Fe
	[at.%]	[at.%]	[at.%]	[at.%]
Fe/Phen@C-800	87.42	3.53	7.69	0.56
Fe/Phen@C-	85.69	3.43	9.99	0.54
800_S				
Fe/Phen@C-	85.63	3.85	9.22	0.79
800_R				

Table 3.4: Elemental compositions (near-surface region)for the fresh (Fe/Phen@C-800), spent(Fe/Phen@C-800_S) and reactivated (Fe/Phen@C-800_R) Fe-based catalysts based on XPS quantitative analysis.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that the non-noble metal catalyst prepared by pyrolysis of a molecularly defined complex impregnated either on carbonaceous or inorganic support, can effectively catalyze cyclopropanation reactions. These kinds of materials, generally employed for reduction or oxidation reaction, are indeed effective catalyst also for carbene transfer reactions. The developed protocol allows obtaining several cyclopropanes from aromatic and aliphatic olefins and different diazocompounds. The deactivation of the catalyst upon recycling has been also studied and an oxidative regeneration protocol was effectively developed, which may be of more general use even for other reactions if olefins or other polymerizable compounds are employed as substrates.

Chapter 4 Experimental Details

4.1 General Aspects

Unless otherwise stated, all the catalytic reactions were performed under N₂ atmosphere using distilled solvents. Ethyl diazoacetate (EDA, Sigma Aldrich) was stored at 4-8°C (purity 97%, as indicated by the certificate of analysis for the specific lot). α -Methyl styrene was purchased from Acros Organics and purified by distillation over calcium hydride prior of its use in catalysis. All other substrates were purchased from various suppliers and used without any purification. Employed solvents were purified using standard techniques.

For the preparation of the catalytic materials, absolute ethanol was purchased from Alfa Aesar, $Fe(OAc)_2$ was purchased from Sigma Aldrich (trace metal basis >99.999%) and 1,10-phenanthroline (Phen) was purchased as monohydrate from Alfa Aesar. However, before use, it was dissolved in distilled CH_2Cl_2 , dried over Na_2SO_4 followed by filtration under a dinitrogen atmosphere and evaporation of the solvent in vacuo. Both $Fe(OAc)_2$ and Phen were weighed in the air but stored under Ar to avoid oxidation and water uptake. Vulcan XC 72R, Aerosil OX 50 and MgO (nanopowder, > 99% trace metals basis) were purchased from Cabot Corporation, Evonik Industries and Alfa Aesar, respectively.

Diazo compounds 3b, ²²³ 3c, ²²⁴ 3d²²⁵ were prepared according to literature procedures.

4.2 Analytical Details

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at room temperature (at frequencies of 300MHz for the proton and 75MHz for the carbon) on a Bruker AC 300 FT or on a Bruker Avance DRX 400 (at frequencies of 400 MHz for the proton and 100 MHz for the carbon). Chemical shifts are reported in ppm relative to TMS; the data are reported as follows: proton multiplicities (s=singlet, d=doublet, t=triplet, q=quartet, m=multiplet and br=broad), coupling constants and finally integration.

IR spectra were registered on a Varian Scimitar FTS-1000.

The scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) measurements were performed at 200kV with a probe aberration-corrected JEM-ARM200F (JEOL, Corrector: CEOS). The

microscope is equipped with a JED-2300 (JEOL) energy-dispersive x-ray-spectrometer (EDXS) and an Enfinium ER (GATAN) electron energy loss spectrometer (EELS) with Dual EELS for chemical analysis. The solid samples were deposed without any pretreatment on holey carbon supported by a Cu-grid (mesh 300) and transferred to the microscope.

The XPS (X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy) measurements were performed on an ESCALAB 220iXL (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with monochromated Al K α radiation (E = 1486.6 eV). Samples are prepared on a stainless steel holder with conductive double sided adhesive carbon tape. The electron binding energies were obtained with charge compensation using a flood electron source and referenced to the C1s core level of adventitious carbon at 284.8 eV (C-C and C-H bonds). For quantitative analysis, the peaks were deconvoluted with Gaussian-Lorentzian curves using the software Unifit 2017. The peak areas were normalized by the transmission function of the spectrometer and the element specific sensitivity factor of Scofield.²²⁶

4.3 Procedure for Catalyst Preparation

For the catalyst preparation we followed a procedure published by some of us.¹⁶⁴ In order to obtain 1 g of the final catalytically active material, 94 mg of Fe(OAc)₂ (0.5 mmol) were dissolved in 20 mL of absolute ethanol. Then, 291 mg of Phen (1.5 mmol) were added and the as obtained brown solution was stirred at 60 °C for 2 hours. Subsequently, the support (Vulcan® XC-72R, Aerosil OX 50 or MgO, 615 mg) was added portion wise. The heterogeneous mixture was maintained under stirring for 18 h at room temperature (23 °C). Then, ethanol was carefully removed by rotary evaporation and the solid material was dried for at least 4 hours under vacuum. The as obtained solid was transferred into a crucible equipped with lid and placed in the pyrolysis chamber of an AUSTROMAT 264 pyrolytic oven. The oven was heated to 800 °C for 2 h (temperature ramp of 25 K/min) flushing 10 mL·min⁻¹ of Ar. Once the heating was stopped, the chamber was allowed to cool down to room temperature (Ar was flushed until the temperature reached 50 °C). The as obtained catalysts are referred as Fe/Phen@C-800, Fe/Phen@SiO₂-800, and Fe/Phen@MgO-800 respectively in the whole text.

By using the same procedure, catalyst without the addition of either Phen or $Fe(OAc)_2$ were prepared (they are referred to as Fe@C-800 and Phen@C-800, respectively).

4.4 Procedure for Catalytic Reactions and Product Isolation

In a typical catalytic reaction, the catalyst (18.5 mg) was placed in an oven dried Schlenk tube which was evacuated and backfilled with nitrogen. Solvent (2mL) was added followed by α -methyl styrene (2.50 mmol) and a stock solution of EDA (0.5 mmol, 1 mL, [EDA] = 0.5 M,). The mixture was then heated at 60 °C and stirred for 4 hours under a N₂ atmosphere. Once the reaction was completed, the internal standard (2,4-dinitrotoluene) was added the catalyst was removed by filtration over Celite. The solvent was evaporated, the crude mixture dissolved in CDCl₃ and analyzed by means of NMR and IR spectroscopy to determine conversion, yield and diastereomeric ratio. Isolated compounds were obtained by purification by column chromatography on silica gel. In the following, all compounds have been drawn as a single enantiomer for simplicity, but they are obviously racemic mixtures.

4.5 Procedure for Catalyst Recycling and Regeneration

After completion of the reaction, the reaction mixture was completely transferred to a centrifuge tube and the spent catalyst was separated by centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 5-10 minutes. Isolated solid material was washed with dichloromethane (3x10 mL), separated by centrifugation again, dried under vacuum (8 h) and used for another cycle under the reaction conditions described in section 4.4.

The thermal reactivation of the spent catalyst was performed under dinitrogen for 3 h at 300 or 400 $^{\circ}$ C.

Oxidative reactivation was performed using H_2O_2 . Specifically, the spent catalyst was stirred with an aqueous solution of H_2O_2 (3 %) at room temperature for 16 h. Afterwards, the mixture was centrifuged (6000 rpm for 5-10 minutes) and the isolated solid was washed with distilled water (3x10 mL), dried for 8 h under vacuum and reused in a catalytic run.

The spent and regenerated catalysts are referred as Fe/Phen@C-800_S and Fe/Phen@C-800_R, respectively.

	С	Н	N	Fe
	[wt.%]	[wt.%]	[wt.%]	[wt.%]
Fe/Phen@C-800	64.77	0.45	3.85	2.95
Fe/Phen@C-800_S	61.31	3.23	1.35	2.07
Fe/Phen@C-800_R	50.65	3.02	0.76	2.27
Fe/Phen@MgO-800	19.03	0.13	0.84	3.31
Fe/Phen@SiO ₂ -800	20.97	0.08	1.09	3.77

Table 4.1: Elemental compositions of the fresh, deactivated and reactivated Fe-based catalysts based on CHN and AAS Fe analysis.

4.6 Characterization of the Reaction Products

trans-Ethyl 2-methyl-2-phenylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2a)



Only the trans isomer was isolated in a pure form.

Obtained as colorless oil after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 68%.

¹H NMR (400 MHz CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (d, J = 4.3 Hz, 4H), 7.24 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 4.20 (qd, J = 7.1, 2.6 Hz, 2H), 2.04 – 1.92 (m, 1H), 1.53 (s, 3H), 1.43 (dq, J = 8.3, 4.7 Hz, 2H), 1.30 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.17, 145.93, 128.43, 127.29, 126.43, 60.49, 30.55, 27.88, 20.78, 19.88, 14.41 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁷

Ethyl 2-phenylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2b)



Obtained as yellow oil (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans69%, cis 27% (trans:cis = 72:28).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.29 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.24 – 7.17 (m, 1H), 7.15 – 7.05 (m, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (ddd, J = 9.4, 6.5, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.90 (ddd, J = 8.4, 5.3, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.67 – 1.51 (m, 1H), 1.34 – 1.30 (m, 1H), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.40, 140.13, 128.45, 126.45, 126.17, 60.69, 26.16, 24.17, 17.04, 14.26 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.27 (s, 4H), 7.22 – 7.15 (m, 1H), 3.87 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.58 (q, J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (ddd, J = 9.1, 7.9, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.72 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.33 (td, J = 8.2, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 0.97 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.96, 136.57, 129.29, 127.86, 126.62, 60.15, 25.45, 21.81, 14.02, 11.10 ppm.

Data are in accordance with²²⁸ and²²⁹ for trans and cis isomers, respectively.

Ethyl 2-(o-tolyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2c)



Obtained as colorless oil (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans 73%, cis 21% (trans:cis = 77:23).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.15 (tt, J = 6.4, 3.3 Hz, 3H), 7.03 – 6.96 (m, 1H), 4.20 (qd, J = 7.1, 2.4 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (ddd, J = 9.1, 6.9, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.84 – 1.73 (m, 1H), 1.67 – 1.52 (m, 2H), 1.30 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 4H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.90, 138.02, 137.85, 129.85, 126.71, 125.89, 125.85, 60.66, 24.64, 22.35, 19.57, 15.37, 14.34 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.22 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 7.13 (dd, J = 5.8, 3.5 Hz, 3H), 3.85 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.45 (q, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 2.34 (s, 3H), 2.20 – 2.10 (m, 1H), 1.75 (dt, J = 7.5, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.35 (td, J = 8.2, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 0.93 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 138.15, 129.39, 129.11, 126.76, 125.34, 60.05, 24.44, 21.16, 19.33, 13.93, 11.22 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁷

Ethyl 2-(m-tolyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2d)



Obtained as yellow oil (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans 70%, cis 27% (trans:cis = 72:28).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.17 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.02 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 6.95 – 6.86 (m, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.55 – 2.43 (m, 1H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.96 – 1.84 (m, 1H), 1.58 (dt, J = 9.5, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 4H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.45, 140.07, 138.09, 128.36, 127.22, 126.99, 123.16, 60.62, 26.14, 24.10, 21.36, 16.99, 14.27 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.15 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.11 – 7.04 (m, 2H), 7.00 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 3.89 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.06 (ddd, J = 9.2, 7.9, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.69 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 1.38 – 1.22 (m, 1H), 0.98 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.02, 137.32, 136.48, 130.12, 127.75, 127.39, 126.29, 60.12, 25.40, 21.70, 21.34, 14.03, 11.10 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁷

Ethyl 2-(p-tolyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2e)



Obtained as colorless oil (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans- 72%, cis 18% (trans:cis = 80:20).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.09 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.00 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 2.50 (ddd, J = 9.7, 6.4, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.32 (s, 3H), 1.87 (dt, J = 9.1, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 1.58 (dt, J = 9.4, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 4H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.49, 137.06, 136.06, 129.13, 126.12, 60.63, 25.93, 24.05, 20.99, 16.92, 14.28 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.15 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.06 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (q, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 2.14 – 1.96 (m, 1H), 1.80 – 1.62 (m, 1H), 1.39 – 1.20 (m, 1H), 1.01 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 129.13, 128.59, 60.14, 25.20, 21.68, 14.07, 11.19, 1.01 ppm. Three quaternary C were not detected.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁷

Ethyl 2-(4-(tert-butyl)phenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2f)



Obtained as yellow oil (trans) and pale-yellow oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans- 67%, cis 30% (trans:cis = 69:31).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.31 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.04 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 4.16 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.49 (ddd, J = 9.4, 6.5, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.88 (ddd, J = 8.4, 5.2, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.58 (dt, J = 9.3, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.30 (s, 9H), 1.27 ppm (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 4H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.50, 149.46, 137.10, 125.84, 125.37, 60.62, 31.33, 25.85, 24.12, 16.95, 14.27 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.28 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.19 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 3.87 (qd, J = 7.1, 5.1 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.05 (ddd, J = 9.2, 7.9, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.69 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.29 (s, 10H, overlap of -C(CH₃)₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold), 0.92 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.07, 149.39, 133.50, 128.90, 124.76, 60.09, 34.39, 31.34, 25.05, 21.84, 13.91, 11.13 ppm.

Data are in accordance with²²⁸ and²³⁰ for trans and cis isomer, respectively.

Ethyl 2-(4-methoxyphenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2g)



Obtained as white crystalline solid (trans) and light yellow solid (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 3 % AcOEt). Yield trans 69%, cis- 19% (trans:cis = 78:22). For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.03 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.82 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 4.16 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 2.48 (ddd, J = 10.3, 6.5, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.82 (dt, J = 9.2, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 1.55 (dt, J = 9.6, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.28 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.24 ppm (dd, J = 5.2, 3.2 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.63, 158.34, 132.12, 127.40, 113.94, 60.69, 55.37, 25.68, 23.92, 16.80, 14.32 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.18 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.80 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 2.52 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.03 (ddd, J = 9.1, 7.9, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 1.65 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.39 – 1.18 (m, 1H), 1.01 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.11, 158.30, 130.26, 128.55, 113.31, 60.16, 55.19, 24.85, 21.70, 14.11, 11.27 ppm.

Data are in accordance with²²⁸ and²²⁹ for trans and cis isomer, respectively.

trans-Ethyl 2-(4-fluorophenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2h)



Only trans isomer was isolated in the pure form.

Obtained as colorless oil (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans 70%.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.06 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.96 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (ddd, J = 9.8, 6.4, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 1.98 – 1.79 (m, 1H), 1.58 (m, J = 5.1 Hz, 2H)

1H), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 4H, overlap of $-CH_3$ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.67, 163.59, 160.35, 136.12, 128.21, 128.10, 115.81, 115.53, 61.17, 25.83, 24.41, 17.30, 14.66 ppm.
¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -116.71 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁸

Ethyl 2-(4-chlorophenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2i)



Obtained as colorless oils (transand cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans- 73%, cis- 23% (trans-:cis- = 76:24).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.24 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.03 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.49 (ddd, J = 9.5, 6.4, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.86 (ddd, J = 8.5, 5.3, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 1.66 – 1.56 (m, 1H), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 4H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.11, 138.64, 132.18, 128.55, 127.57, 60.80, 25.48, 24.15, 16.98, 14.11 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.21 (q, J = 8.5 Hz, 4H), 3.90 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (ddd, J = 9.1, 8.0, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.67 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.34 (td, J = 8.3, 5.1 Hz, 1H), 1.02 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.74, 135.10, 132.41, 130.62, 128.02, 60.32, 24.80, 21.83, 14.09, 11.32 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁹

Ethyl 2-(4-bromophenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2j)



Obtained as white crystalline solid (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans- 72%, cis- 11% (trans:cis = 86:14).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.39 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.97 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.47 (ddd, J = 10.2, 6.4, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.86 (ddd, J = 8.6, 5.3, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 1.69 – 1.41 (m, 1H, overlapping with proton derived from water traces), 1.28 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 4H, overlap with one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl3) δ 173.11, 139.19, 131.50, 127.94, 120.14, 60.83, 25.56, 24.17, 17.00, 14.25 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.38 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.14 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (ddd, J = 9.1, 8.0, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.67 (dt, J = 7.4, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.34 (td, J = 8.2, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.02 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.16, 136.02, 131.40, 131.36, 120.92, 60.76, 25.29, 22.21, 14.49, 11.71 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²²⁸

trans-Ethyl 2-(naphthalen-2-yl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2k)



Only trans isomer was isolated in the pure form.

Obtained as colorless oil after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 64 %.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79 (t, J = 9.0 Hz, 3H), 7.58 (s, 1H), 7.52 – 7.39 (m, 1H), 7.22 (dd, J = 8.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 4.21 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.71 (ddd, J = 9.5, 6.5, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 2.17 – 1.88 (m, 1H), 1.69 (dt, J = 9.6, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 1.44 (ddd, J = 8.4, 6.5, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 1.31 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.77, 137.93, 133.78, 132.70, 128.57, 128.02, 127.80, 126.65, 125.88, 125.19, 124.98, 61.15, 26.81, 24.53, 17.42, 14.69 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³¹

Ethyl 2-(perfluorophenyl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2l)



Obtained as colorless oil (mixture of diasteroisomers) after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 73% (trans-:cis- = 71:29).

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 4.20 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H, trans), 4.06 (qd, J = 7.1, 1.9 Hz, 2H, cis), 2.45 (ddd, J = 9.6, 6.8, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 2.29 – 2.14 (m, 2H, trans+cis), 1.63 (dt, J = 9.9, 5.1 Hz, 2H, trans+cis), 1.58 – 1.47 (m, 2H, trans+cis), 1.30 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, trans), 1.19 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, cis).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.11, 61.55, 61.24, 21.37, 19.33, 15.45, 15.08, 14.62, 14.48, 13.97, 13.56 ppm.

¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -141.56 (dd, J = 22.1, 7.7 Hz, cis), -143.85 (dd, J = 21.9, 7.7 Hz, trans), -156.54 (t, J = 21.0 Hz, cis), -156.78 (t, J = 21.0 Hz, trans), -162.91 (td, J = 21.8, 7.8 Hz, trans), -163.69 ppm (td, J = 22.0, 7.8 Hz, cis). Data are in accordance with²²⁸ and.²³²

Ethyl (2-(4-chloromethylphenyl)-2-methylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2m)



Obtained as colorless oil (both *trans* and *cis*) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield *trans*- 67%, *cis* 15% (*trans:cis* = 82:18).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.30 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.09 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 4.56 (s, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.56 – 2.45 (m, 1H), 1.94 – 1.85 (m, 1H), 1.65 – 1.55 (m, 1H), 1.28 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃)δ173.39, 140.73, 135.87, 128.92, 126.69, 60.92, 46.12, 25.99, 24.42, 17.24, 14.39ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.29 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.55 (s, 2H), 3.88 (qd, J = 7.1, 1.0 Hz, 2H), 2.56 (q, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (ddd, J = 9.1, 7.8, 5.7 Hz, 1H), 1.74 – 1.65 (m, 1H), 1.34 (td, J = 8.2, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 0.99 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ155.15, 137.15, 135.92, 129.81, 128.34, 60.42, 46.28, 25.31, 22.00, 14.19, 11.45ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³³

Ethyl 2-(4-(benzyloxy)-3-methoxyphenyl)cyclopropanecarboxylate (2n)



Obtained as colorless oil (both trans and cis) after column chromatography (gradient elution hexne:AcOEt from 97:3 to 95:5). Yield trans-41%, cis 11% (trans:cis = 79:21).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.34 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.30 – 7.25 (m, 2H), 7.23 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 6.71 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.59 (d, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (dd, J = 8.3, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 5.04 (s, 2H), 4.09 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.39 (ddd, J = 9.3, 6.5, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.76 (ddd, J = 8.5, 5.2, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 1.50 – 1.44 (m, 1H), 1.20 ppm(t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H, overlap of -CH₃ signal with that of one proton of the cyclopropane scaffold).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.59, 149.89, 147.10, 137.37, 133.47, 128.65, 127.93, 127.39, 118.23, 114.57, 110.83, 71.40, 60.80, 56.19, 26.10, 24.05, 16.89, 14.40 ppm. For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.42 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.29 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H, overlapped with CDCl₃ signal), 6.82 (d, J = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.78 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.74 (dd, J = 8.3 Hz, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.12 (s, 2H), 3.88 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H, overlapped with - OCH₃signal), 3.87 (s, 3H, -OCH₃), 2.52 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 2.08 – 1.99 (m, 1H), 1.65 (dt, J = 7.1, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.29 (td, J = 8.1, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 0.98 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.16, 149.32, 147.15, 137.49, 130.02, 128.63, 127.89, 127.44, 121.54, 113.83, 113.36, 71.24, 60.33, 56.13, 25.34, 22.00, 14.27, 11.46 ppm.

Ethyl (2-(4-methylphenyl)-2-methylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (20)



Obtained as colorless oil (both trans and cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans-67%, cis15% (trans:cis = 82:18).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.11 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.02 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 4.11 (qd, J = 7.1, 2.7 Hz, 2H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 1.85 (dd, J = 8.3, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.36 – 1.27 (m, 2H), 1.21 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.38, 143.15, 136.15, 129.22, 127.30, 60.56, 30.41, 27.98, 21.07, 20.94, 20.07, 14.54 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.16 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.07 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 3.93 – 3.80 (m, 2H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 1.88 (dd, J = 7.8, 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.75 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.45 (s, 3H), 1.12 (dd, J = 7.8, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 0.99 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.49, 138.99, 136.25, 129.03, 128.75, 60.22, 31.90, 28.79, 28.62, 21.24, 19.68, 14.19 ppm.

Ethyl (2-(4-fluorophenyl)-2-methylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2p)



Obtained as colorless oil (both trans and cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans- 70%, cis 23% (trans:cis = 76:24).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.26 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.98 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 4.19 (qd, J = 7.1, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 1.92 (dd, J = 8.4, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.50 (s, 3H), 1.43 (t, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H), 1.37 (dd, J = 8.4, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 1.30 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -116.67 ppm.

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.43, 163.42, 160.17, 142.15, 142.10, 129.44, 129.33, 115.73, 115.44, 60.97, 30.47, 28.16, 21.13, 20.55, 14.81 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.22 (dd, J = 5.9, 2.7 Hz, 2H), 6.95 (t, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 3.86 (qq, J = 6.8, 3.7 Hz, 2H), 1.89 (dd, J = 7.8, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 1.74 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.44 (s, 3H), 1.15 (dd, J = 7.8, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 0.99 ppm(t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹⁹F NMR (282 MHz, CDCl₃) δ -116.48 ppm.

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 130.68, 130.57, 115.53, 115.25, 60.59, 31.69, 30.10, 28.94, 20.05, 14.45 ppm. Quaternary C were not detected.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³³

Ethyl 2-(4-chlorophenyl)-2-methylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2q)



Obtained as light-yellow oil (trans) and colorless oil (cis) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield trans 71%, cis 20% (trans:cis = 78:22).

For trans isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.24 (q, J = 8.6 Hz, 4H), 4.19 (ddq, J = 11.2, 7.1, 3.8 Hz, 2H), 1.92 (dd, J = 8.4, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.49 (s, 3H), 1.44 (t, J = 5.4 Hz, 1H), 1.37 (dd, J = 8.4, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 1.29 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.85, 144.43, 132.20, 128.74, 128.55, 60.59, 29.95, 27.83, 20.71, 19.80, 14.39 ppm.

For cis isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.22 (q, J = 8.5 Hz, 4H), 3.88 (ddq, J = 10.8, 7.1, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 1.91 (dd, J = 7.7, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 1.74 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 1.44 (s, 3H), 1.15 (dd, J = 7.7, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 1.00 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.99, 140.44, 132.35, 130.12, 128.33, 60.22, 31.32, 28.53, 28.32, 19.55, 14.04 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³⁴

Ethyl 2,2-diphenylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2r)



Obtained as colorless oil after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 86%.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50 – 7.02 (m, 10H), 4.11 – 3.75 (m, 2H), 2.57 (ddd, J = 8.1, 5.9, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 2.27 – 2.16 (m, 1H), 1.62 (dd, J = 8.2, 4.8 Hz, 1H), 1.04 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.01, 145.29, 140.67, 130.17, 128.84, 128.67, 127.99, 127.35, 126.90, 60.83, 40.21, 29.46, 20.51, 14.41 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³³

Ethyl 1,1a,6,6a-tetrahydrocyclopropa[a]indene-1-carboxylate (2s)



Obtained as pale yellow crystalline solid (exo) and colorless oil (endo) after column chromatography (eluent hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield exo 54%, endo 13% (endo:exo = 80:20).

For exo isomer:

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37 – 7.31 (m, 1H), 7.19 – 7.08 (m, 3H), 4.15 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.28 (dd, J = 17.5, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.04 (d, J = 17.7 Hz, 1H), 2.95 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 2.44 (td, J = 6.4, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.21 ppm (t, J = 2.8 Hz, 1H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.75, 143.64, 141.77, 126.45, 126.33, 125.22, 123.94, 60.56, 35.36, 34.33, 30.75, 26.38, 14.29 ppm.

For endo isomer:

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.32 – 7.28 (m, 1H), 7.12 (q, J = 3.6 Hz, 3H), 3.93 – 3.70 (m, 2H), 3.36 (d, J = 17.2 Hz, 1H), 3.23 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.19 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.08 – 2.82 (m, 1H), 2.27 (q, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.01 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 0.95 ppm (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 169.57, 144.67, 139.88, 126.48, 125.98, 124.65, 123.90, 59.88, 32.43, 31.65, 24.65, 23.55, 13.95 ppm.

Data are in accordance with²³⁵ and.²³⁶

Ethyl 2-hexylcyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2t)



Obtained as colorless oil (mixture of trans and cis isomers) after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 69%. (trans:cis= 55:45)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 4.31 – 3.97 (m, both isomers), 1.70 – 1.64 (m, 1H, cis), 1.54 – 1.19 (m, both isomers), 1.17 – 1.10 (m), 1.08 – 0.92 (m, 1H, cis), 0.90 – 0.80 (m, both isomers), 0.71 – 0.64ppm (m, 1H, trans). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 174.83, 60.43, 60.35, 33.21, 31.99, 31.94, 29.85, 29.77, 29.20, 29.11, 27.17, 23.11, 22.77, 22.13, 20.38, 18.39, 15.68, 14.52, 14.44, 14.23, 13.50 ppm. Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³⁷

Ethyl 2-(cyclohex-3-en-1-yl)cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (2u)



Obtained as colorless oil (mixture of 4 isomers) after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 57 %.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 5.64 (s, 2H), 4.12 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 2.23 – 1.97 (m, 3H), 1.92 – 1.65 (m, 2H), 1.51 – 1.29 (m, 3H), 1.25 (t, J = 7.1, 3H), 1.19 – 1.10 (m, 1H), 1.09 – 0.95 (m, 1H), 0.81 – 0.70 ppm (m, 1H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ174.71, 174.67, 127.16, 127.08, 126.36, 126.15, 60.46, 60.42, 37.75, 37.71, 31.92, 31.87, 31.69, 31.29, 31.09, 28.89, 28.80, 28.62, 28.58, 28.41, 28.17, 28.00, 27.56, 25.07, 24.96, 24.82, 19.23, 19.08, 18.19, 18.09, 14.51, 14.42, 14.40, 14.20, 12.70, 12.58 ppm.

Ethyl-6,6-dimethyl-spiro[bicycle[3.1.1]heptanes-2,1'-cyclopropane]-2'-carboxylate (2v)

Obtained as colorless oil after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 48 %.

The product is a mixture of isomers. 1R,2R,2'R and 1R,2R,2'S isomers are detectable by ¹H and ¹³C NMR as the major products in a ca. 58:42 ratio. ¹³C NMR indicates the presence of two other diastereomer in minor amount. Assignment of 1R,2R,2'R and 1R,2R,2'S signals, isolated in the pure form were previously reported in the literature.²³⁸

Signals of the mixture are reported below indicating 1R,2R,2'R isomer as **2s-1** and 1R,2R,2'S as **2s-2**. When clearly distinguishable from the signals of the major isomers, minor isomers will be indicated as **2s-min**.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 4.20 – 4.02 (m, 2H **2s-1** +2H **2s-2** + **2s-min**), 2.29 – 2.09 (m, 2H **2s-1** + 1H **2s-2**), 2.00 – 1.73 (m, 4H **2s-1** + 4H **2s-2**), 1.66 – 1.58 (m, 1H**2s-2**), 1.53 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H**2s-2**), 1.44 (d, J = 10.0 Hz, 1H**2s-1**), 1.41 – 1.32 (m, 1H **2s-1** +1H **2s-2**), 1.30 – 1.24 (m, 4H **2s-1** +4H **2s-2**), 1.22 (s, 3H**2s-1**), 1.20 – 1.12 (m, 1H **2s-1** +4H **2s-2**), 1.04 (dd, J = 8.0, 4.5 Hz, 1H**2s-1**), 0.97 (s, 3H**2s-2**), 0.96 (s, 3H **2s-1**), 0.91 (dd, J = 8.1, 4.4 Hz, 1H**2s-2** overlapped with **2s-min**), 0.84 – 0.73 ppm (m, 1H**2s-min**).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.32 (2s-min), 172.91 (2s-2), 172.84 (2s-1), 60.43 (2s-1), 60.42 (2s-2), 60.35(2s-min), 52.97 (2s-min), 52.74 (2s-2), 45.07 (2s-min), 43.57 (2s-1), 41.22 (2s-2), 41.07 (2s-1), 40.89 (2s-2), 40.82 (2s-min), 40.69 (2s-1), 40.51 (2s-min), 40.13 (2s-min), 32.09 (2s-1), 32.02 (2s-min), 31.86 (2s-min), 31.39 (2s-2), 30.72 (2s-min), 28.69 (2s-1), 28.60 (2s-min), 28.56 (2s-min), 27.87 (2s-min), 27.11 (2s-1), 27.08 (2s-2), 26.97 (2s-1), 26.85 (2s-2), 26.68 (2s-min), 26.41 (2s-2), 26.00 (2s-1), 24.73 (2s-1), 24.61 (2s-1), 24.47 (2s-min), 24.23 (2s-min), 24.09 (2s-2), 23.73 (2s-2), 22.33 (2s-2), 22.07 (2s-2), 22.04 (2s-min), 21.95 (2s-2), 21.82 (2s-min), 21.34 (2s-min), 20.26 (2s-min), 19.65 (2s-min), 14.92 (2s-min), 14.84 (2s-2), 14.77 ppm (2s-1).

t-butyl-2-methyl-2-phenylcyclopropanecarboxylate (2aa)

Obtained as trans isomer after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 81 %.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.32 – 7.27 (m, 4H), 7.23 – 7.16 (m, 1H), 1.90 (dd, J = 8.3, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 1.51 (s, 3H), 1.49 (s, 9H), 1.40 – 1.35 (m, 1H), 1.32 (t, J = 4.2 Hz, 1H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 171.72, 146.61, 128.77, 127.54, 126.67, 80.77, 29.58, 28.69, 20.74, 20.00.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³³

(2-Methyl-2-phenylcyclopropyl)(phenyl)methanone (2ab)



Obtained as colorless oil (onlytrans isomer)after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt).Yield 71 %.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.02 (dd, J = 8.3, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 7.61 – 7.54 (m, 1H), 7.52 – 7.45 (m, 2H), 7.42 – 7.38 (m, 4H), 7.34 – 7.25 (m, 1H), 2.93 (dd, J = 7.9, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 1.91 (dd, J = 6.1, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 1.64 (dd, J = 7.9, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 1.46 ppm (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.90, 146.19, 139.12, 133.16, 129.11, 129.01, 128.55, 127.07, 126.97, 34.49, 33.99, 21.35, 19.17 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²³⁹

(2-Methylcyclopropane-1,1,2-triyl)tribenzene (2ac)



Obtained as white solid after column chromatography (eluent: hexane + 0.2 % AcOEt). Yield 38 %.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.64 – 7.57 (m, 2H), 7.40 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.32 – 7.19 (m, 5H), 7.12 (ddd, J = 8.0, 6.1, 1.6 Hz, 3H), 7.07 – 6.92 (m, 3H), 2.29 (d, J = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.63 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H), 1.44 ppm (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 144.12, 143.60, 143.56, 130.74, 129.95, 128.91, 128.76, 128.17, 127.90, 126.64, 126.01, 125.74, 43.35, 33.24, 26.62, 25.44 ppm.

Data are in accordance with the one reported in the literature.²⁴⁰

References

1. (a) Gnad, F.; Reiser, O., Synthesis and Applications of β -Aminocarboxylic Acids Containing a Cyclopropane Ring. Chem. Rev. **2003**, 103 (4), 1603-1624; (b) Faust, R., Fascinating Natural and Artificial Cyclopropane Architectures. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2001**, 40 (12), 2251-2253.

2. Adam, R., Novel routes to and reactions of cyclopropanes. PhD thesis, Loughborough University, 2014.

3. Gagnon, A.; Duplessis, M.; Fader, L., Arylcyclopropanes: Properties, Synthesis and Use in Medicinal Chemistry. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. **2010**, 42 (1), 1-69.

4. Wong, H. N. C.; Hon, M. Y.; Tse, C. W.; Yip, Y. C.; Tanko, J.; Hudlicky, T., Use of cyclopropanes and their derivatives in organic synthesis. Chem. Rev. **1989**, 89 (1), 165-198.

5. Coulson, C. A.; Moffitt, W. E., Strain in Non-Tetrahedral Carbon Atoms. J. Chem. Phys. **1947**, 15 (3), 151-151.

6. Wu, W.; Lin, Z.; Jiang, H., Recent advances in the synthesis of cyclopropanes. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2018**, 16 (40), 7315-7329.

7. Wong, H. N. C.; Hon, M. Y.; Tse, C. W.; Yip, Y. C.; Tanko, J.; Hudlicky, T., Use of cyclopropanes and their derivatives in organic synthesis. Chem. Rev. **1989**, 89 (1), 165-98.

Evans, D. A.; Sims, C. L., The total synthesis of (±)bakkenolide-A. Tetrahedron Lett.
 1973, 14 (47), 4691-4694.

9. (a) Paquette, L. A., Silyl-substituted cyclopropanes as versatile synthetic reagents. Chem. Rev. **1986**, 86 (5), 733-750; (b) Meijere, A. d.; Link Small ring compounds in organic synthesis VI. http://rave.ohiolink.edu/ebooks/ebc/3540482555.

10. von E. Doering, W.; LaFlamme, P. M., A two-step of synthesis of allenes from olefins. Tetrahedron **1958**, 2 (1), 75-79.

 Köbrich, G., Carbene Chemistry. Von W. Kirmse. Academic Press, New York-London 1971. 2. Aufl., XI, 615 S., zahlr. Abb. u. Tab., geb. S. 33 Angew. Chem. 1973, 85 (7), 314-314.

12. Müller, E., Book Review: Carbocyclic Ring Expansion Reactions. By C. D. Gutsche and D. Redmore. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1969**, 8 (5), 398-398.

13. (a) Neureiter, N. P., Pyrolysis of 1,1-dichloro-2-vinylcyclopropane. Synthesis of 2-chlorocyclopentadiene. J. Org. Chem. **1959**, 24, 2044-6; (b) Vogel, E.; Ott, K.-H.; Gajek, K.,

Kleine Kohlenstoff-Ringe, VI. Valenzisomerisierungen von cis-1.2-Divinyl-cycloalkanen. Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie **1961**, 644 (1), 172-188; (c) Overberger, C. G.; Borchert, A. E., Ionic polymerization. XVI. Reactions of 1-cyclopropylethanol-vinylcyclopropane. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1960**, 82, 4896-9.

14. Flowers, M. C.; Frey, H. M., The thermal unimolecular isomerization of vinylcyclopropane to cyclopentene. J. Chem. Soc. **1961**, 3547-8.

15. (a) Frey, H. M., Gas phase pyrolysis of some small ring hydrocarbons. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. **1966**, 4, 147-93; (b) Frey, H. M.; Walsh, R., Thermal unimolecular reactions of hydrocarbons. Chem. Rev. **1969**, 69 (1), 103-23.

 Breslow, R., Rearrangements in small ring compounds. Mol. Rearrange. 1963, 1, 233-94.

17. Mazzocchi, P. H.; Tamburin, H. J., Mechanism of the vinylcyclopropanecyclopentene rearrangement. Evidence against a concerted process. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1970**, 92 (24), 7220-1.

Ramaiah, M., Cyclopentaannellation Reactions in Organic Synthesis. Synthesis 1984, 1984 (07), 529-570.

Vogel, E., Valence Isomerizations in Compounds with Strained Rings. Angew. Chem.
 Int. Ed. 1963, 2 (1), 1-11.

20. Vogel, E.; Ott, K. H.; Gajek, K., Small carbon rings. VI. Valence isomerizations of cis-1,2-divinylcycloalkanes. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. **1961**, 644, 172-88.

21. Bradbury, R. H.; Gilchrist, T. L.; Rees, C. W., Synthesis of an isolable 4aHbenzocycloheptene, ethyl 4-methoxy-4a-methyl-4aH-benzocycloheptene-5-carboxylate, and a study of its thermal rearrangement. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1981**, (0), 3225-3233.

22. Moon, S., Lead Tetraacetate. II. Reactions with Bicyclo[3.1.0]hexane and Bicyclo[4.1.0]heptane. J. Org. Chem. **1964**, 29 (12), 3456-3458.

Rubottom, G. M.; Marrero, R.; Krueger, D. S.; Schreiner, J. L., The lead (IV) acetate oxidation of cyclopropane derivative: a novel fragmentation reaction. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, (46), 4013-4016.

24. Rubottom, G. M.; Gruber, J. M.,m-Chloroperbenzoic acid oxidation of 2-trimethylsilyloxy-1,3-dienes. Synthesis of α -Hydroxy and α -Acetoxy Enones. J. Org. Chem. **1978**, 43 (8), 1599-1602.

 Charlton, M., In The Chemistry of Alkenes; Zabricky, J. Ed.;. Interscience: London, 1970. 26. Newham, J., The Catalytic Hydrogenolysis of Small Carbon Rings. Chem. Rev. 1963, 63 (2), 123-137.

27. Woodworth, C. W.; Buss, V.; Schleyer, P. v. R., Hydrogenolysis of cyclopropane derivatives. Application to the synthesis of an axial tert-butylcyclohexane, 2-tert-butyladamantane. Chem. Commun. **1968**, (10), 569-70.

28. Challand, B. D.; Hikano, H.; Kornis, G.; Lange, G.; Demayo, P., Photochemical Cycloaddition. Some Applications of the Use of Enolized β -Diketones. J. Org. Chem. **1969**, 34 (4), 794-806.

29. (a) Grob, C. A., Mechanisms and stereochemistry of heterolytic fragmentation. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1969**, 8 (8), 535-546; (b) Grob, C. A.; Schiess, P. W., Heterolytic Fragmentation. A Class of Organic Reactions. Angew.Chem.Int.Ed. **1967**, 6 (1), 1-15.

30. DePuy, C. H., Top. Curr. Chem. **1973**, 40, 73.

31. Kramer, G. M., Detection of alkylcyclopropane intermediates during carbonium ion rearrangements in antimony pentafluoride tritiated fluorosulfonic acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1970**, 92 (14), 4344-8.

32. Bone, W. A.; Perkin, W. H., The condensation of ethylic trimethylenedicarboxylate with ethylic malonate. J. Chem. Soc., Trans. **1895**, 67, 108-119.

33. Danishefsky, S., Electrophilic cyclopropanes in organic synthesis. Acc. Chem. Res.1979, 12 (2), 66-72.

34. Danishefsky, S.; Dynak, J.; Hatch, E.; Yamamoto, M., Ring construction through transpositions of activated cyclopropanes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1974**, 96 (4), 1256-9.

35. Stevens, R. V.; Ellis, M. C.; Wentland, M. P., Thermal rearrangement of cyclopropylimines. III. Total synthesis of pyridine alkaloids. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1968**, 90 (20), 5576-9.

36. Carlson, R. G.; Biersmith, E. L., Photolysis of 2-cyclopropylcyclohexanone: a three-carbon photo-chemical ring expansion. J. Chem. Soc. D **1969**, (18), 1049-50.

37. Adam, W.; Oppenlander, T.; Zang, G., Photochemistry of the azoalkanes 2,3diazabicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2ene and spiro[cyclopropane-7,1'-[2,3]-diazabicyclo[2.2.1]hept-2ene]: On the Questions of One-Bond vs Two-Bond cleavage during the Denitrogenation, Cyclization vs Rearrangement of the 1,3-diradicals and double inversion. J. Org. Chem. **1985**, 50 (18), 3303-3312. 38. Zimmerman, H. E.; Binkley, R. W., An unusual photochemical rearrangement; mechanistic and exploratory organic photochemistry. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26 (48), 5859-62.

39. Zefirov, N. S.; Kozhushkov, S. I.; Kuznetsova, T. S.; Sosonkin, I. M., Facile photorearrangement of 1,1-bis(bromomethyl)-2-vinylcyclopropane to 6-bromo-2-(bromomethyl)-1,4-hexadiene. Zh. Org. Khim. **1986**, 22 (3), 666-7.

40. Gassman, P. G.; Yamaguchi, R., Electron transfer from highly strained polycyclic molecules. Tetrahedron **1982**, 38 (8), 1113-1122.

41. Grigg, R.; Shelton, G., Thermal and catalysed rearrangement of olefinic epoxides. J. Chem. Soc.Chem. Commun. **1971**, (20), 1247-1248.

42. Traynham, J. G.; Lee, Y. S., Radical Brominations of Alkenic Positions by Bromine and by N-Bromosuccinimide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1974**, 96 (11), 3590-3594.

43. Walling, C.; Fredricks, P. S., Positive Halogen Compounds IV. Radical Reactions of Chlorine and t-Butyl Hypochlorite with Some Small Ring Compounds. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1962**, 84 (17), 3326-3331.

44. Tanko, J. M.; Skell, P. S.; Seshadri, S., Absolute rate constants for bromine abstraction from N-bromoimides and Br2 by alkyl radicals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, 110 (10), 3221-5.

45. (a) Kharasch, M. S.; Fineman, M. Z.; Mayo, F. R., The Oxygen Effect in the Reaction of Cyclopropane with Bromine and with Hydrogen Bromide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1939**, 61 (8), 2139-2142; (b) Shea, K. J.; Skell, P. S., Photobromination of alkylcyclopropanes. Stereochemistry of homolytic substitution at a saturated carbon atom. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1973**, 95 (20), 6728-34; (c) Upton, C. J.; Incremona, J. H., Bimolecular homolytic substitution at carbon. Stereochemical investigation. J. Org. Chem. **1976**, 41 (3), 523-30; (d) Maynes, G. G.; Appliquist, D. E., Stereochemistry of free radical ring cleavage of cis-1,2,3-trimethylcyclopropane by bromine. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1973**, 95 (3), 856-61.

46. (a) Lalonde, R. T.; Debboli, A. D.; Ferrara, P. B., Characteristics of various reactions of bromine with arylcyclopropanes. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37 (8), 1094-1099; (b) Kuivila, H. G.; Caywood, S. C.; Boyce, W. F.; Langevin, F. L., The Reaction of 1-Phenyl-2-alkylcyclopropanes with N-Bromosuccinimide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77 (19), 5175-5176.
47. Wender, P. A.; Howbert, J. J., Synthetic studies on areneolefin cycloadditions VI-two syntheses of (±)-coriolin. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24 (48), 5325-5328.

48. Shiozaki, M.; Maeda, K.; Miura, T.; Ogoshi, Y.; Haas, J.; Fryer, A. M.; Laird, E. R.; Littmann, N. M.; Andrews, S. W.; Josey, J. A.; Mimura, T.; Shinozaki, Y.; Yoshiuchi, H.; Inaba, T., Novel N-substituted 2-phenyl-1-sulfonylaminocyclopropanecarboxylates as selective ADAMTS-5 (Aggrecanase-2) inhibitors. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. **2009**, 19 (6), 1575-1580.

49. Kulinkovich, O. G., The chemistry of cyclopropanols. Chem. Rev. **2003**, 103 (7), 2597-2632.

50. Lebel, H.; Marcoux, J. F.; Molinaro, C.; Charette, A. B., Stereoselective cyclopropanation reactions. Chem. Rev. **2003**, 103 (4), 977-1050.

51. Simmons, H. E.; Smith, R. D., A New Synthesis of Cyclopropanes1. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1959**, 81 (16), 4256-4264.

52. Muller, P., GLOSSARY OF TERMS USED IN PHYSICAL ORGANIC-CHEMISTRY. Pure Appl. Chem. **1994**, 66 (5), 1077-1184.

53. Winstein, S.; Sonnenberg, J.; De Vries, L., THE TRIS-HOMOCYCLOPROPENYL CATION1. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1959**, 81 (24), 6523-6524.

54. Winstein, S.; Sonnenberg, J., Homoconjugation and Homoaromaticity. III.1 The 3-Bicyclo [3.1.0]hexyl System2,3. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1961**, 83 (15), 3235-3244.

55. Dauben, W. G.; Berezin, G. H., The Preparation of Cyclic Cyclopropylcarbinols. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1963**, 85 (4), 468-472.

56. Dauben, W. G.; Ashcraft, A. C., The Total Synthesis of (±)-Thujopsene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1963**, 85 (22), 3673-3676.

57. Poulter, C. D.; Friedrich, E. C.; Winstein, S., Stereochemistry of the methylene iodide-zinc-copper couple methylenation of cyclic allylic alcohols. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1969**, 91 (24), 6892-6894.

58. Furukawa, J.; Kawabata, N.; Nishimura, J., A novel route to cyclopropanes from olefins. Tetrahedron Lett. **1966**, 7 (28), 3353-3354.

59. Furukawa, J.; Kawabata, N.; Nishimura, J., Synthesis of cyclopropanes by the reaction of olefins with dialkylzinc and methylene iodide. Tetrahedron **1968**, 24 (1), 53-58.

Maas, G., New Syntheses of Diazo Compounds. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48 (44), 8186-8195.

61. Morandi, B.; Dolva, A.; Carreira, E. M., Iron-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation with Glycine Ethyl Ester Hydrochloride in Water. Org. Lett. **2012**, 14 (8), 2162-2163.

62. Morandi, B.; Carreira, E. M., Iron-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation in 6 M KOH with in Situ Generation of Diazomethane. Science **2012**, 335 (6075), 1471.

63. Künzi, S. A.; Morandi, B.; Carreira, E. M., Preparation of Trifluoromethyl-Substituted Aziridines with in Situ Generated CF3CHN2. Org. Lett. **2012**, 14 (7), 1900-1901.

64. Morandi, B.; Cheang, J.; Carreira, E. M., Iron-Catalyzed Preparation of Trifluoromethyl Substituted Vinyl- and Alkynylcyclopropanes. Org. Lett. **2011**, 13 (12), 3080-3081.

Morandi, B.; Mariampillai, B.; Carreira, E. M., Enantioselective Cobalt-Catalyzed Preparation of Trifluoromethyl-Substituted Cyclopropanes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50 (5), 1101-1104.

66. Wulfman, D. S. L., G.; Cooper, C. F., Synthetic applications of diazoalkanes, diazocyclopentadienes and diazoazacyclopentadienes. In The Chemistry of Diazonium and Diazo Groups, Vol 2; Patai, S., Ed.;, Wiley; Chichester, UK: 1978; pp 821-976.

67. Padwa, A.; Austin, D. J.; Hornbuckle, S. F.; Semones, M. A.; Doyle, M. P.; Protopopova, M. N., Control of chemoselectivity in catalytic carbenoid reactions. Dirhodium(II) ligand effects on relative reactivities. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114 (5), 1874-1876.

68. Padwa, A.; Krumpe, K. E., Application of Intramolecular Carbenoid Reactions in Organic Synthesis. Tetrahedron **1992**, 48 (26), 5385-5453.

69. Ye, T.; McKervey, M. A., Organic Synthesis with .alpha.-Diazo Carbonyl Compounds. Chem. Rev. **1994**, 94 (4), 1091-1160.

70. Honma, M.; Takeda, H.; Takano, M.; Nakada, M., Development of Catalytic Asymmetric Intramolecular Cyclopropanation of α -Diazo- β -Keto Sulfones and Applications to Natural Product Synthesis. Synlett. **2009**, 2009 (11), 1695-1712.

71. Reisman, S. E.; Nani, R. R.; Levin, S., Buchner and Beyond: Arene Cyclopropanation as Applied to Natural Product Total Synthesis. Synlett **2011**, 2011 (17), 2437-2442.

72. Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C., Recent Advances in Asymmetric Catalytic Metal Carbene Transformations. Chem. Rev. **1998**, 98 (2), 911-936.

73. Doyle, M. P., Perspective on Dirhodium Carboxamidates as Catalysts. J. Org. Chem.2006, 71 (25), 9253-9260.

74. Chandrasekhar, S.; Narasihmulu, C.; Jagadeshwar, V.; Reddy, K. V., The first Corey-Chaykovsky epoxidation and cyclopropanation in ionic liquids. Tetrahedron Lett. **2003**, 44 (18), 3629-3630.
75. Ciaccio, J. A.; Aman, C. E., "Instant methylide" modification of the Corey-Chaykovsky cyclopropanation reaction. Synth. Commun. **2006**, 36 (10), 1333-1341.

Clemens, J. J.; Asgian, J. L.; Busch, B. B.; Coon, T.; Ernst, J.; Kaljevic, L.; Krenitsky,
P. J.; Neubert, T. D.; Schweiger, E. J.; Termin, A.; Stamos, D., Diastereoselective One-Pot Knoevenagel Condensation/Corey–Chaykovsky Cyclopropanation. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78 (2), 780-785.

77. Gololobov, Y. G.; Nesmeyanov, A. N.; Lysenko, V. P.; Boldeskul, I. E., 25 YEARS OF DIMETHYLSULFOXONIUM METHYLIDE (COREYS REAGENT). Tetrahedron **1987**, 43 (12), 2609-2651.

78. Rautenstrauch, V., 2-Cyclopentenones from 1-ethynyl-2-propenyl acetates. J. Org. Chem. **1984**, 49 (5), 950-952.

79. Mainetti, E.; Mouriès, V.; Fensterbank, L.; Malacria, M.; Marco-Contelles, J., The Effect of a Hydroxy Protecting Group on the PtCl2-Catalyzed Cyclization of Dienynes—A Novel, Efficient, and Selective Synthesis of Carbocycles. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2002**, 41 (12), 2132-2135.

80. Lemière, G.; Gandon, V.; Cariou, K.; Hours, A.; Fukuyama, T.; Dhimane, A.-L.; Fensterbank, L.; Malacria, M., Generation and Trapping of Cyclopentenylidene Gold Species: Four Pathways to Polycyclic Compounds. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131 (8), 2993-3006.

81. Shi, X.; Gorin, D. J.; Toste, F. D., Synthesis of 2-Cyclopentenones by Gold(I)-Catalyzed Rautenstrauch Rearrangement. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127 (16), 5802-5803.

82. Witham, C. A.; Mauleon, P.; Shapiro, N. D.; Sherry, B. D.; Toste, F. D., Gold(I)-catalyzed oxidative rearrangements. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2007**, 129 (18), 5838-5839.

83. Mamane, V.; Gress, T.; Krause, H.; Fürstner, A., Platinum- and Gold-Catalyzed Cycloisomerization Reactions of Hydroxylated Enynes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2004**, 126 (28), 8654-8655.

84. Miller, A. K.; Trauner, D., Total Synthesis of (±)-Photodeoxytridachione through a Lewis Acid Catalyzed Cyclization. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2003**, 42 (5), 549-552.

85. Miller, A. K.; Banghart, M. R.; Beaudry, C. M.; Suh, J. M.; Trauner, D., Development of novel Lewis acid catalyzed cycloisomerizations: synthesis of bicyclo[3.1.0]hexenes and cyclopentenones. Tetrahedron **2003**, 59 (45), 8919-8930.

86. Miller, A. K.; Byun, D. H.; Beaudry, C. M.; Trauner, D., The total synthesis of (–)-crispatene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **2004**, 101 (33), 12019.

87. Kulinkovich, O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevskii, D. A.; Pritytskaya, T. S., Reaction of Ethylmagnesium bromide with Esters of Carboxylic-Acids in the Presence of Tetraisopropoxytitanium. Zh. Org. Khim. **1989**, 25 (10), 2244-2245.

88. Kulinkovich, O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevski, D. A., Titanium(IV) Isopropoxide-Catalyzed Formation of 1-Substituted Cyclopropanols in the Reaction of Ethylmagnesium Bromide with Methyl Alkanecarboxylates. Synthesis **1991**, *3*, 234-234.

89. Haym, I.; Brimble, M. A., The Kulinkovich hydroxycyclopropanation reaction in natural product synthesis. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2012**, 10 (38), 7649-7665.

90. Epstein, O. L.; Savchenko, A. I.; Kulinkovich, O. G., Titanium(IV) isopropoxidecatalysed reaction of alkylmagnesium halides with ethyl acetate in the presence of styrene. Non-hydride mechanism of ligand exchange in the titanacyclopropanes. Tetrahedron Lett. **1999**, 40 (32), 5935-5938.

91. Wu, Y.-D.; Yu, Z.-X., A Theoretical Study on the Mechanism and Diastereoselectivity of the Kulinkovich Hydroxycyclopropanation Reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**, 123 (24), 5777-5786.

92. Eisch, John J.; Adeosun, Adetenu A.; Gitua, John N., Mechanism of the Kulinkovich Cyclopropanol Synthesis: Transfer-Epititanation of the Alkene in Generating the Key Titanacyclopropane Intermediate. Eur. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, 2003 (24), 4721-4727.

93. Kulinkovich, O. G.; Savchenko, A. I.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevski, D. A., Titanium(IV) Isopropoxide-catalysed Reaction of Ethylmagnesium Bromide with Ethyl Acetate in the Presence of Styrene. Mendeleev Commun. **1993**, 3 (6), 230-231.

94. Chaplinski, V.; de Meijere, A., A Versatile New Preparation of Cyclopropylamines from Acid Dialkylamides. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1996**, 35 (4), 413-414.

95. Bertus, P.; Szymoniak, J., New and easy route to primary cyclopropylamines from nitriles. Chem. Commun. **2001**, (18), 1792-1793.

96. Perkin , W. H., Ueber die Einwirkung von Aethylenbromid auf Malonsäureäther. Chem. Ber. **1884**, 17 (1), 54-59.

97. Corey, E. J.; Shiner, C. S.; Volante, R. P.; Cyr, C. R., Total synthesis of 12methylprostaglandin A2. Tetrahedron Lett. **1975**, 16 (13), 1161-1164. 98. Ledford, B. E.; Carreira, E. M., Total Synthesis of (+)-Trehazolin: Optically Active Spirocycloheptadienes as Useful Precursors for the Synthesis of Amino Cyclopentitols. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117 (47), 11811-11812.

99. Starr, J. T.; Koch, G.; Carreira, E. M., Enantioselective Synthesis of the Cyclopentyl Core of the Axinellamines. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2000**, 122 (36), 8793-8794.

100. Pirrung, M. C.; Dunlap, S. E.; Trinks, U. P., Ethylene Biosynthesis part 10. Synthesis and study of racemic, (1R, 2S)-, and (1S, 2R)-1-Amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)cyclopropanecarboxylic Acid. Helv. Chim. Acta **1989**, 72 (6), 1301-1310.

101. Corey, E. J.; Chaykovsky, M., Dimethylsulfoxonium Methylide. J. Am. Chem. Soc.1962, 84 (5), 867-868.

102. Corey, E. J.; Chaykovsky, M., Dimethyloxosulfonium Methylide $((CH_3)_2SOCH_2)$ and Dimethylsulfonium Methylide $((CH_3)_2SCH_2)$. Formation and Application to Organic Synthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1965**, 87 (6), 1353-1364.

103. Büchi, G.; Hofheinz, W.; Paukstelis, J. V., The Total Synthesis of(-)-Aromadendrene.J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88 (17), 4113-4114.

104. Xu, X. Asymmetric Intra- and Intermolecular Cyclopropanation by Cobalt(II)-Based Metalloradical Catalysis. PhD Thesis, University of South Florida, 2012.

105. (a) Johansson, M. J.; Gorin, D. J.; Staben, S. T.; Toste, F. D., Gold(I)-catalyzed stereoselective olefin cyclopropanation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2005**, 127 (51), 18002-18003; (b) Watson, I. D. G.; Ritter, S.; Toste, F. D., Asymmetric Synthesis of Medium-Sized Rings by Intramolecular Au(I)-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131 (6), 2056-+.

106. (a) Du, G. D.; Andrioletti, B.; Rose, E.; Woo, L. K., Asymmetric cyclopropanation of styrene catalyzed by chiral macrocyclic iron(II) complexes. Organometallics **2002**, 21 (21), 4490-4495; (b) Lai, T. S.; Chan, F. Y.; So, P. K.; Ma, D. L.; Wong, K. Y.; Che, C. M., Alkene cyclopropanation catalyzed by Halterman iron porphyrin: participation of organic bases as axial ligands. Dalton Trans. **2006**, (40), 4845-4851.

107. (a) Kanchiku, S.; Suematsu, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Uchida, T.; Katsuki, T., Construction of an aryliridium-salen complex for highly cis- and enantioselective cyclopropanations. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2007**, 46 (21), 3889-3891; (b) Suematsu, H.; Kanchiku, S.; Uchida, T.; Katsuki, T., Construction of aryliridium-salen complexes: Enantio- and cis-selective cyclopropanation of conjugated and nonconjugated olefins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, 130 (31), 10327-10337.

108. Zhang, J.; Liang, J.-L.; Sun, X.-R.; Zhou, H.-B.; Zhu, N.-Y.; Zhou, Z.-Y.; Chan, P.
W. H.; Che, C.-M., Chiral Osmium Complexes with Sterically Bulky Schiff-Base Ligands.
Crystal Structures of Os(IV) Derivatives and the Reactivity and Catalytic Cyclopropanation of Alkenes with EDA. Inorg. Chem. 2005, 44 (11), 3942-3954.

109. (a) Oonishi, Y.; Kitano, Y.; Sato, Y., C□H Bond Activation Triggered by Formation of Metallacycles: Rhodium(I)-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation/Cyclization of Allenynes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2012,** 51 (29), 7305-7308; (b) Piou, T.; Rovis, T., Rh(III)-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation Initiated by C–H Activation: Ligand Development Enables a Diastereoselective [2 + 1] Annulation of N-Enoxyphthalimides and Alkenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014,** 136 (32), 11292-11295.

110. (a) Tayama, E.; Horikawa, K.; Iwamoto, H.; Hasegawa, E., Copper(II)–acid catalyzed cyclopropanation of 1,3-dienamides by electrophilic activation of α -aryl diazoesters. Tetrahedron Lett. **2014**, 55 (19), 3041-3044; (b) Toh, K. K.; Biswas, A.; Wang, Y.-F.; Tan, Y. Y.; Chiba, S., Copper-Mediated Oxidative Transformation of N-Allyl Enamine Carboxylates toward Synthesis of Azaheterocycles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014**, 136 (16), 6011-6020.

111. Cornwall, R. G.; Wong, O. A.; Du, H.; Ramirez, T. A.; Shi, Y., A novel class of tunable cyclopropanation reagents ($RXZnCH_2Y$) and their synthetic applications. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2012**, 10 (29), 5498-5513.

112. Nozaki, H.; Moriuti, S.; Takaya, H.; Noyori, R., Asymmetric induction in carbenoid reaction by means of a dissymmetric copper chelate. Tetrahedron Lett. **1966**, (43), 5239-5244.

113. Tian, B.; Liu, Q.; Tong, X.; Tian, P.; Lin, G.-Q., Copper(I)-catalyzed enantioselective hydroboration of cyclopropenes: facile synthesis of optically active cyclopropylboronates. Org. Chem. Front. **2014**, 1 (9), 1116-1122.

114. Itagaki, M.; Masumoto, K.; Suenobu, K.; Yamamoto, Y., Studies of Copper–Bisoxazoline-Catalyzed Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of 2,5-Dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene. Org. Process Res. Dev. **2006**, 10 (2), 245-250.

115. Fritschi, H.; Leutenegger, U.; Pfaltz, A., Chiral Copper-Semicorrin Complexes as Enantioselective Catalysts for the Cyclopropanation of Olefins by Diazo Compounds . Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1986**, 25 (11), 1005-1006.

116. Evans, D. A.; Woerpel, K. A.; Hinman, M. M.; Faul, M. M., Bis(oxazolines) as chiral ligands in metal-catalyzed asymmetric reactions. Catalytic, asymmetric cyclopropanation of olefins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113 (2), 726-8.

117. Glos, M.; Reiser, O., Aza-bis(oxazolines): New chiral ligands for asymmetric catalysis. Org. Lett. **2000**, 2 (14), 2045-2048.

118. Allais, F.; Angelaud, R.; Camuzat-Dedenis, B.; Julienne, K.; Landais, Y., Desymmetrisation of cyclopentadienylsilane by asymmetric cyclopropanation. Eur. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, (6), 1069-1073.

(a) Carreiro, E. D.; Chercheja, S.; Burke, A. J.; Ramalho, J. P. P.; Rodrigues, A. I., Isbut-Box: A new chiral C-2 symmetric bis-oxazoline for catalytic enantioselective synthesis. J. Mol. Catal. A-Chem. 2005, 236 (1-2), 38-45; (b) Carreiro, E. D.; Chercheja, S.; Moura, N. M. M.; Gertrudes, C. S. C.; Burke, A. J., Arylid-Box: A new family of chiral bis-oxazoline ligands for metal mediated catalytic enantioselective synthesis. Inorg. Chem. Commun. 2006, 9 (8), 823-826; (c) Burke, A. J.; Carreiro, E. d. P.; Chercheja, S.; Moura, N. M. M.; Prates Ramalho, J. P.; Rodrigues, A. I.; dos Santos, C. I. M., Cu(I) catalysed cyclopropanation of olefins: Stereoselectivity studies with Arylid-Box and Isbut-Box ligands. J. Organomet. Chem. 2007, 692 (22), 4863-4874.

120. Itagaki, M.; Yamamoto, Y., Application of a chiral copper-1,1-bis{2-[(4S)-tertbutyloxazolinyl]}cyclopropane catalyst for asymmetric cyclopropanation of styrene. Tetrahedron Lett. **2006**, 47 (4), 523-525.

121. Itagaki, M.; Masumoto, K.; Yamamoto, Y., Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of 2,5-Dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene by Copper Catalysts Bearing New Bisoxazoline Ligands. J. Org. Chem. **2005**, 70 (8), 3292-3295.

122. Mazet, C.; Kohler, V.; Pfaltz, A., Chiral boron-bridged bisoxazolines: Readily available anionic ligands for asymmetric catalysis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2005**, 44 (31), 4888-4891.

123. Xu, Z.-H.; Zhu, S.-N.; Sun, X.-L.; Tang, Y.; Dai, L.-X., Sidearm effects in the enantioselective cyclopropanation of alkenes with aryldiazoacetates catalyzed by trisoxazoline/Cu(I). Chem. Commun. (Cambridge, U. K.) **2007**, (19), 1960-1962.

124. Lyle, M. P. A.; Wilson, P. D., Synthesis of a new chiral nonracemic C2-symmetric 2,2'-bipyridyl ligand and its application in copper(I)-catalyzed enantioselective cyclopropanation reactions. Org. Lett. **2004**, 6 (5), 855-857.

125. Lesma, G.; Cattenati, C.; Pilati, T.; Sacchetti, A.; Silvani, A., Enantioselective coppercatalyzed cyclopropanation of styrene by means of chiral bispidine ligands. Tetrahedron-Asymm. **2007**, 18 (5), 659-663.

126. Suga, H.; Kakehi, A.; Ito, S.; Ibata, T.; Fudo, T.; Watanabe, Y.; Kinoshita, Y., Asymmetric cyclopropanation and aziridination reactions of olefins catalyzed by Cu(I)-binaphthyldiimine complexes. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **2003**, 76 (1), 189-199.

127. Gao, J.; Zhong, S. H., Asymmetric cyclopropanation catalyzed by C2-symmetric bis-(ephedrine)-Cu(II) complexes. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. **2003**, 191 (1), 23-27.

128. Itagaki, M.; Hagiya, K.; Kamitamari, M.; Masumoto, K.; Suenobu, K.; Yamamoto, Y., Highly efficient chiral copper Schiff-base catalyst for asymmetric cyclopropanation of 2,5-dimethyl-2,4-hexadiene. Tetrahedron **2004**, 60 (36), 7835-7843.

129. Castano, B.; Gallo, E.; Cole-Hamilton, D. J.; Dal Santo, V.; Psaro, R.; Caselli, A., Continuous flow asymmetric cyclopropanation reactions using Cu(I) complexes of Pc-L* ligands supported on silica as catalysts with carbon dioxide as a carrier. Green Chem. **2014**, 16 (6), 3202-3209.

130. Wu, W.; Lin, Z.; Jiang, H., Recent advances in the synthesis of cyclopropanes. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2018**, 16 (40), 7315-7329.

131. (a) Doyle, M. P.; Pieters, R. J.; Martin, S. F.; Austin, R. E.; Oalmann, C. J.; Muller, P., High enantioselectivity in the intramolecular cyclopropanation of allyl diazoacetates using a novel rhodium(II) catalyst. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113 (4), 1423-1424; (b) Doyle, M. P.; Austin, R. E.; Bailey, A. S.; Dwyer, M. P.; Dyatkin, A. B.; Kalinin, A. V.; Kwan, M. M. Y.; Liras, S.; Oalmann, C. J.; Pieters, R. J.; Protopopova, M. N.; Raab, C. E.; Roos, G. H. P.; Zhou, Q. L.; Martin, S. F., Enantioselective Intramolecular Cyclopropanations of Allylic and Homoallylic Diazoacetates and Diazoacetamides Using Chiral Dirhodium(II) Carboxamide Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1995**, 117 (21), 5763-5775.

132. Bykowski, D.; Wu, K. H.; Doyle, M. P., Vinyldiazolactone as a vinylcarbene precursor: Highly selective C-H insertion and cyclopropanation reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2006**, 128 (50), 16038-16039.

133. Kennedy, M.; McKervey, M. A.; Maguire, A. R.; Roos, G. H. P., Asymmetric synthesis in carbon-carbon bond forming reactions of α -diazoketones catalyzed by homochiral rhodium(II) carboxylates. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1990**, (5), 361-2.

134. Davies, H. M. L.; Bruzinski, P.; Hutcheson, D. K.; Kong, N.; Fall, M. J., Asymmetric Cyclopropanations by Rhodium(II) N-(Arylsulfonyl)prolinate Catalyzed Decomposition of

Vinyldiazomethanes in the Presence of Alkenes. Practical Enantioselective Synthesis of the Four Stereoisomers of 1-Amino-2-phenylcyclopropanecarboxylic acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118 (29), 6897-6907.

135. Hedley, S. J.; Ventura, D. L.; Dominiak, P. M.; Nygren, C. L.; Davies, H. M. L., Investigation into Factors Influencing Stereoselectivity in the Reactions of Heterocycles with Donor-Acceptor-Substituted Rhodium Carbenoids. J. Org. Chem. **2006**, 71 (14), 5349-5356.

136. Su, Y.; Li, Q.-F.; Zhao, Y.-M.; Gu, P., Preparation of Optically Active cis-Cyclopropane Carboxylates: Cyclopropanation of α -Silyl Stryenes with Aryldiazoacetates and Desilylation of the Resulting Silyl Cyclopropanes. Org. Lett. **2016**, 18 (17), 4356-4359.

137. Krumper, Jr.; Gerisch, M.; Suh, J. M.; Bergman, R. G.; Tilley, T. D., Monomeric rhodium(II) catalysts for the preparation of aziridines and enantioselective formation of cyclopropanes from ethyl diazoacetate at room temperature. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, 68 (25), 9705-9710.

138. Shibata, Y.; Noguchi, K.; Tanaka, K., Cationic Rhodium(I) Complex-Catalyzed [3 + 2] and [2 + 1] Cycloadditions of Propargyl Esters with Electron-Deficient Alkynes and Alkenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132 (23), 7896-7898.

139. Nishiyama, H.; Itoh, Y.; Matsumoto, H.; Park, S. B.; Itoh, K., New Chiral Ruthenium Bis(oxazolinyl)pyridine Catalyst. Efficient Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Olefins with Diazoacetates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, 116 (5), 2223-2224.

140. Iwasa, S.; Tsushima, S.; Nishiyama, K.; Tsuchiya, Y.; Takezawa, F.; Nishiyama, H., Catalytic asymmetric cyclopropanation of alkenes with diazoesters in protic and biphasic media. Tetrahedron-Asymm. **2003**, 14 (7), 855-865.

141. Gao, M. Z.; Kong, D.; Clearfield, A.; Zingaro, R. A., Novel structure-defined chiral bis(oxazolinyl)thiophenes for Ru-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation. Tetrahedron Lett.
2004, 45 (29), 5649-5652.

142. (a) Lo, W. C.; Cheng, K. F.; Che, C. M.; Mak, T. C. W., Catalytic and asymmetric cyclopropanation of styrenes catalysed by ruthenium porphyrin and porphycene complexes (pg 1205, 1997). Chem. Commun. **1997**, (22), 2249-2249; (b) Berkessel, A.; Kaiser, P.; Lex, J., Electronically tuned chiral ruthenium porphyrins: Extremely stable and selective catalysts for asymmetric epoxidation and cyclopropanation. Chem. Eur. J. **2003**, 9 (19), 4746-4756; (c) Frauenkron, M.; Berkessel, A., A novel chiral ruthenium porphyrin as highly efficient and selective catalyst for asymmetric cyclopropanations. Tetrahedron Lett. **1997**, 38 (41), 7175-7176; (d) Che, C. M.; Huang, J. S.; Lee, F. W.; Li, Y.; Lai, T. S.; Kwong, H. L.; Teng, P. F.;

Lee, W. S.; Lo, W. C.; Peng, S. M.; Zhou, Z. Y., Asymmetric inter- and intramolecular cyclopropanation of alkenes catalyzed by chiral ruthenium porphyrins. Synthesis and crystal structure of a chiral metalloporphyrin carbene complex. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**, 123 (18), 4119-4129.

143. Le Maux, P.; Juillard, S.; Simonneaux, G., Asymmetric synthesis of trifluoromethylphenyl cyclopropanes catalyzed by chiral metalloporphyrins. Synthesis **2006**, (10), 1701-1704.

144. Ferrand, Y.; Le Maux, P.; Simonneaux, G., Highly enantioselective synthesis of cyclopropylphosphonates catalyzed by chiral ruthenium porphyrins. Org. Lett. **2004**, 6 (18), 3211-3214.

145. (a) Uchida, T.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T., cis- and Enantio-selective cyclopropanation with chiral (ON+)Ru-salen complex as a catalyst. Tetrahedron **2000**, 56 (22), 3501-3509; (b) Uchida, T.; Katsuki, T., α -Diazoacetates as carbene precursors: metallosalen-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropanation. Synthesis **2006**, (10), 1715-1723.

146. Miller, J. A.; Jin, W.; Nguyen, S. T., An efficient and highly enantio- and diastereoselective cyclopropanation of olefins catalyzed by Schiff-base ruthenium(II) complexes. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2002**, 41 (16), 2953-2956.

147. Bachmann, S.; Furler, M.; Mezzetti, A., Cis-Selective Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Olefins Catalyzed by Five-Coordinate [RuCl(PNNP)]+ Complexes. Organometallics 2001, 20 (10), 2102-2108.

148. Munslow, I. J.; Gillespie, K. M.; Deeth, R. J.; Scott, P., Bidentate carbenoid ester coordination in ruthenium(II) Schiff-base complexes leading to excellent levels of diastereoand enantioselectivity in catalytic alkene cyclopropanation. Chem. Commun. **2001**, (17), 1638-1639.

149. Nakamura, A.; Konishi, A.; Tatsuno, Y.; Otsuka, S., A highly enantioselective synthesis of cyclopropane derivatives through chiral cobalt(II) complex catalyzed carbenoid reaction. General scope and factors determining the enantioselectivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1978**, 100 (11), 3443-3448.

150. (a) Niimi, T.; Uchida, T.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T., Co(II)-salen-catalyzed highly cis- and enantioselective cyclopropanation. Tetrahedron Lett. **2000**, 41 (19), 3647-3651; (b) Niimi, T.; Uchida, T.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T., Highly enantioselective cyclopropanation with Co(II)-salen complexes: control of cis- and trans-selectivity by rational ligand design. Adv. Synth. Catal. **2001**, 343 (1), 79-88.

151. (a) Chen, Y.; Fields, K. B.; Zhang, X. P., Bromoporphyrins as Versatile Synthons for Modular Construction of Chiral Porphyrins: Cobalt-Catalyzed Highly Enantioselective and Diastereoselective Cyclopropanation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2004**, 126 (45), 14718-14719; (b) Chen, Y.; Zhang, X. P., Asymmetric cyclopropanation of styrenes catalyzed by metal complexes of D₂-symmetrical chiral porphyrin: Superiority of cobalt over iron. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, 72 (15), 5931-5934.

152. Zhu, S.; Perman, J. A.; Zhang, X. P., Acceptor/acceptor-substituted diazo reagents for carbene transfers: cobalt-catalyzed asymmetric Z-cyclopropanation of alkenes with α -nitrodiazoacetates. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2008**, 47 (44), 8460-8463.

153. Zhu, S.; Xu, X.; Perman, J. A.; Zhang, X. P., A General and Efficient Cobalt(II)-Based Catalytic System for Highly Stereoselective Cyclopropanation of Alkenes with α -Cyanodiazoacetates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132 (37), 12796-12799.

154. Fraile, J. M.; García, J. I.; Martínez-Merino, V.; Mayoral, J. A.; Salvatella, L., Theoretical (DFT) Insights into the Mechanism of Copper-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation Reactions. Implications for Enantioselective Catalysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2001**, 123 (31), 7616-7625.

(a) Doyle, M. P.; Dorow, R. L.; Buhro, W. E.; Griffin, J. H.; Tamblyn, W. H.; Trudell, M. L., Stereoselectivity of catalytic cyclopropanation reactions. Catalyst dependence in reactions of ethyl diazoacetate with alkenes. Organometallics 1984, 3 (1), 44-52; (b) Brown, K. C.; Kodadek, T., A transition-state model for the rhodium porphyrin-catalyzed cyclopropanation of alkenes by diazo esters. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114 (21), 8336-8; (c) Doyle, M. P., Catalytic methods for metal carbene transformations. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86 (5), 919-939.

156. Maas, G., Ruthenium-catalysed carbenoid cyclopropanation reactions with diazo compounds. Chem. Soc. Rev. **2004**, 33 (3), 183-190.

157. Simal, F.; Demonceau, A.; Noels, A. F.; Knowles, D. R. T.; O'Leary, S.; Maitlis, P. M.; Gusev, O., Cp*Ru(II) and Cp*Ru(IV)-catalyzed reactions of CHX with vinyl C–H bonds: competition between double bond homologation and olefin cyclopropanation by alkyl diazoacetate. J. Organomet. Chem. **1998**, 558 (1), 163-170.

158. Ikeno, T.; Iwakura, I.; Yamada, T., Cobalt-Carbene Complex with Single-Bond Character: Intermediate for the Cobalt Complex-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2002**, 124 (51), 15152-15153.

159. Dzik, W. I.; Xu, X.; Zhang, X. P.; Reek, J. N. H.; de Bruin, B., 'Carbene Radicals' in CoII(por)-Catalyzed Olefin Cyclopropanation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132 (31), 10891-10902.

160. Li, M.; Xu, F.; Li, H.; Wang, Y., Nitrogen-doped porous carbon materials: promising catalysts or catalyst supports for heterogeneous hydrogenation and oxidation. Catal. Sci. Technol. **2016**, 6 (11), 3670-3693.

161. Bezerra, C. W. B.; Zhang, L.; Lee, K.; Liu, H.; Marques, A. L. B.; Marques, E. P.; Wang, H.; Zhang, J., A review of Fe-N/C and Co-N/C catalysts for the oxygen reduction reaction. Electrochim. Acta **2008**, 53 (15), 4937-4951.

162. Stemmler, T.; Chen, F.; Pisiewicz, S.; Surkus, A. E.; Pohl, M. M.; Topf, C.; Beller, M., Design of N-doped graphene-coated cobalt-based nanoparticles supported on ceria. J. Mater. Chem. A 2015, 3 (34), 17728-17737.

163. Pisiewicz, S.; Stemmler, T.; Surkus, A.-E.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., Synthesis of Amines by Reductive Amination of Aldehydes and Ketones using Co_3O_4/NGr encapsulated C Catalyst. ChemCatChem **2015**, 7 (1), 62-64.

164. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Stemmler, T.; Surkus, A.-E.; Junge, H.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., Hydrogenation using iron oxide-based nanocatalysts for the synthesis of amines. Nat. Protoc.
2015, 10 (4), 548-557.

165. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Natte, K.; Junge, H.; Beller, M., Nitrogen-Doped Graphene-Activated Iron-Oxide-Based Nanocatalysts for Selective Transfer Hydrogenation of Nitroarenes. ACS Catal. **2015**, 5 (3), 1526-1529.

166. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Junge, H.; Beller, M., 'Nanorust'-catalyzed Benign Oxidation of Amines for Selective Synthesis of Nitriles. ChemSusChem **2015**, 8 (1), 92-96.

167. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Banerjee, D.; Arockiam, P. B.; Junge, H.; Junge, K.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Brueckner, A.; Beller, M., Highly selective transfer hydrogenation of functionalised nitroarenes using cobalt-based nanocatalysts. Green Chem. **2015**, 17 (2), 898-902.

168. Cui, X.; Li, Y.; Bachmann, S.; Scalone, M.; Surkus, A.-E.; Junge, K.; Topf, C.; Beller, M., Synthesis and Characterization of Iron-Nitrogen-Doped Graphene/Core-Shell Catalysts: Efficient Oxidative Dehydrogenation of N-Heterocycles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137 (33), 10652-10658.

169. Chen, F.; Surkus, A.-E.; He, L.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Topf, C.; Junge, K.; Beller,
M., Selective Catalytic Hydrogenation of Heteroarenes with N-Graphene-Modified Cobalt
Nanoparticles (Co₃O₄-Co/NGr@α-Al₂O₃). J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137 (36), 11718-11724.

170. Stemmler, T.; Westerhaus, F. A.; Surkus, A.-E.; Pohl, M.-M.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., General and selective reductive amination of carbonyl compounds using a core-shell structured $Co_3O_4/NGr@C$ catalyst. Green Chem. **2014**, 16 (10), 4535-4540.

171. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Junge, H.; Beller, M., Green synthesis of nitriles using non-noble metal oxides-based nanocatalysts. Nat. Commun. **2014**, *5*, 4123.

172. Banerjee, D.; Jagadeesh, R. V.; Junge, K.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Brueckner, A.; Beller, M., Convenient and mild epoxidation of alkenes using heterogeneous cobalt oxide catalysts. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2014**, 53 (17), 4359-4363.

173. Westerhaus, F. A.; Jagadeesh, R. V.; Wienhoefer, G.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Surkus, A.-E.; Rabeah, J.; Junge, K.; Junge, H.; Nielsen, M.; Brueckner, A.; Beller, M., Heterogenized cobalt oxide catalysts for nitroarene reduction by pyrolysis of molecularly defined complexes. Nat. Chem. **2013**, 5 (6), 537-543.

174. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Surkus, A.-E.; Junge, H.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Rabeah, J.; Huan, H.; Schuenemann, V.; Brueckner, A.; Beller, M., Nanoscale Fe₂O₃-Based Catalysts for Selective Hydrogenation of Nitroarenes to Anilines. Science (Washington, DC, U. S.) **2013**, 342 (6162), 1073-1076.

175. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Junge, H.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Brueckner, A.; Beller, M., Selective Oxidation of Alcohols to Esters Using Heterogeneous Co₃O₄-N@C Catalysts under Mild Conditions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135 (29), 10776-10782.

Pisiewicz, S.; Formenti, D.; Surkus, A.-E.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Junge, K.; Topf,
C.; Bachmann, S.; Scalone, M.; Beller, M., Synthesis of Nickel Nanoparticles with N-Doped
Graphene Shells for Catalytic Reduction Reactions. ChemCatChem 2016, 8 (1), 129-134.

177. Thomas, A.; Fischer, A.; Goettmann, F.; Antonietti, M.; Müller, J.-O.; Schlögl, R.; Carlsson, J. M., Graphitic carbon nitride materials: variation of structure and morphology and their use as metal-free catalysts. J. Mater. Chem. **2008**, 18 (41), 4893-4908.

178. Li, Z.; Liu, J.; Xia, C.; Li, F., Nitrogen-Functionalized Ordered Mesoporous Carbons as Multifunctional Supports of Ultrasmall Pd Nanoparticles for Hydrogenation of Phenol. ACS Catal. **2013**, 3 (11), 2440-2448.

179. Zhang, P.; Yuan, J.; Fellinger, T.-P.; Antonietti, M.; Li, H.; Wang, Y., Improving Hydrothermal Carbonization by Using Poly(ionic liquid)s. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2013**, 52 (23), 6028-6032.

180. Tang, M.; Mao, S.; Li, M.; Wei, Z.; Xu, F.; Li, H.; Wang, Y., RuPd Alloy Nanoparticles Supported on N-Doped Carbon as an Efficient and Stable Catalyst for Benzoic Acid Hydrogenation. ACS Catal. **2015**, 5 (5), 3100-3107.

181. Wei, Z.; Wang, J.; Mao, S.; Su, D.; Jin, H.; Wang, Y.; Xu, F.; Li, H.; Wang, Y., In Situ-Generated Co^0 - Co_3O_4/N -Doped Carbon Nanotubes Hybrids as Efficient and Chemoselective Catalysts for Hydrogenation of Nitroarenes. ACS Catal. **2015**, 5 (8), 4783-4789.

182. Zhang, P.; Gong, Y.; Li, H.; Chen, Z.; Wang, Y., Solvent-free aerobic oxidation of hydrocarbons and alcohols with Pd@N-doped carbon from glucose. Nat. Commun. **2013**, 4 (1), 1593.

183. Gao, Y.; Hu, G.; Zhong, J.; Shi, Z.; Zhu, Y.; Su, D. S.; Wang, J.; Bao, X.; Ma, D., Nitrogen-Doped sp²-Hybridized Carbon as a Superior Catalyst for Selective Oxidation. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2013**, 52 (7), 2109-2113.

184. Lin, Y.; Su, D., Fabrication of Nitrogen-Modified Annealed Nanodiamond with Improved Catalytic Activity. ACS Nano **2014**, 8 (8), 7823-7833.

185. Gaffney, T. R., Porous solids for air separation. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci. **1996**, 1 (1), 69-75.

186. Daud, W. M. A. W.; Houshamnd, A. H., Textural characteristics, surface chemistry and oxidation of activated carbon. J. Nat. Gas Chem. **2010**, 19 (3), 267-279.

187. Nie, R.; Miao, M.; Du, W.; Shi, J.; Liu, Y.; Hou, Z., Selective hydrogenation of CC bond over N-doped reduced graphene oxides supported Pd catalyst. Appl Catal B- Environ **2016**, 180, 607-613.

188. Xu, X.; Li, Y.; Gong, Y.; Zhang, P.; Li, H.; Wang, Y., Synthesis of Palladium Nanoparticles Supported on Mesoporous N-Doped Carbon and Their Catalytic Ability for Biofuel Upgrade. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2012**, 134 (41), 16987-16990.

189. Groves, M. N.; Chan, A. S. W.; Malardier-Jugroot, C.; Jugroot, M., Improving platinum catalyst binding energy to graphene through nitrogen doping. Chem. Phys. Lett. **2009**, 481 (4), 214-219.

190. Ayala, P.; Arenal, R.; Rümmeli, M.; Rubio, A.; Pichler, T., The doping of carbon nanotubes with nitrogen and their potential applications. Carbon **2010**, 48 (3), 575-586.

191. Wang, H.; Maiyalagan, T.; Wang, X., Review on Recent Progress in Nitrogen-Doped Graphene: Synthesis, Characterization, and Its Potential Applications. ACS Catal. 2012, 2 (5), 781-794.

192. Enthaler, S., Synthesis of Secondary Amines by Iron-Catalyzed Reductive Amination. ChemCatChem **2010**, 2 (11), 1411-1415.

193. Bencini, A.; Lippolis, V., 1,10-Phenanthroline: A versatile building block for the construction of ligands for various purposes. Coord. Chem. Rev. **2010**, 254 (17), 2096-2180.

194. Jagadeesh, R. V.; Surkus, A.-E.; Junge, H.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Rabeah, J.; Huan, H.; Schünemann, V.; Brückner, A.; Beller, M., Nanoscale Fe₂O₃-Based Catalysts for Selective Hydrogenation of Nitroarenes to Anilines. Science **2013**, 342 (6162), 1073-1076.

195. Corma, A.; García, H.; Llabrés i Xamena, F. X., Engineering Metal Organic Frameworks for Heterogeneous Catalysis. Chem. Rev. **2010**, 110 (8), 4606-4655.

196. Westerhaus, F. A.; Jagadeesh, R. V.; Wienhöfer, G.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Surkus, A.-E.; Rabeah, J.; Junge, K.; Junge, H.; Nielsen, M.; Brückner, A.; Beller, M., Heterogenized cobalt oxide catalysts for nitroarene reduction by pyrolysis of molecularly defined complexes. Nature Chemistry **2013**, 5 (6), 537-543.

197. Zhang, L.; Wang, A.; Wang, W.; Huang, Y.; Liu, X.; Miao, S.; Liu, J.; Zhang, T., Co-N-C Catalyst for C-C Coupling Reactions: On the Catalytic Performance and Active Sites. ACS Catal. **2015**, 5 (11), 6563-6572.

198. Han, J.; Sa, Y. J.; Shim, Y.; Choi, M.; Park, N.; Joo, S. H.; Park, S., Coordination Chemistry of $[Co(acac)_2]$ with N-Doped Graphene: Implications for Oxygen Reduction Reaction Reactivity of Organometallic Co-O₄-N Species. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2015**, 54 (43), 12622-12626.

199. (a) Formenti, D.; Topf, C.; Junge, K.; Ragaini, F.; Beller, M., Fe₂O₃/NGr@C- and Co–Co₃O₄/NGr@C-catalysed hydrogenation of nitroarenes under mild conditions. Catal. Sci. **2016**, 6 (12), 4473-4477; (b) Formenti, D.; Ferretti, F.; Topf, C.; Surkus, A.-E.; Pohl, M.-M.; Radnik, J.; Schneider, M.; Junge, K.; Beller, M.; Ragaini, F., Co-based heterogeneous catalysts from well-defined α -diimine complexes: Discussing the role of nitrogen. J. Catal. **2017**, 351, 79-89.

200. Westerhaus, F. A.; Sorribes, I.; Wienhöfer, G.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., Reduction of Nitroarenes Using CO and H₂O in the Presence of a Nanostructured Cobalt Oxide/Nitrogen-Doped Graphene (NGr) Catalyst. Synlett. **2015**, 26 (03), 313-317.

201. Duan, L.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, K.; Luo, H.; Huang, J.; Xu, A., Catalytic degradation of Acid Orange 7 with hydrogen peroxide using Co_xO_y -N/GAC catalysts in a bicarbonate aqueous solution. RSC Adv. **2015**, 5 (102), 84303-84310.

202. Stemmler, T.; Surkus, A.-E.; Pohl, M.-M.; Junge, K.; Beller, M., Iron-Catalyzed Synthesis of Secondary Amines: On the Way to Green Reductive Aminations. ChemSusChem **2014**, 7 (11), 3012-3016.

203. Ford, A.; Miel, H.; Ring, A.; Slattery, C. N.; Maguire, A. R.; McKervey, M. A., Modern Organic Synthesis with alpha-Diazocarbonyl Compounds. Chem. Rev. **2015**, 115 (18), 9981-10080.

204. Fraile, J. M.; García, B.; García, J. I.; Mayoral, J. A.; Figueras, F., The use of heterogeneous copper catalysts in cyclopropanation reactions. In Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal., Blaser, H. U.; Baiker, A.; Prins, R., Eds. Elsevier: 1997; Vol. 108, pp 571-578.

205. Liu, X.; Liu, Y.; Li, X.; Xiang, S.; Zhang, Y.; Ying, P.; Wei, Z.; Li, C., Cyclopropanation on a highly active heterogeneous catalyst: CuO/TiO₂-Al₂O₃. Appl. Catal., A **2003**, 239 (1), 279-286.

206. Lakshmi Kantam, M.; Swarna Jaya, V.; Jaya Lakshmi, M.; Reddy, B. R.; Choudary,B. M.; Bhargava, S. K., Alumina supported copper nanoparticles for aziridination and cyclopropanation reactions. Catal. Commun. 2007, 8 (12), 1963-1968.

207. Ishikawa, S.; Hudson, R.; Masnadi, M.; Bateman, M.; Castonguay, A.; Braidy, N.; Moores, A.; Li, C.-J., Cyclopropanation of diazoesters with styrene derivatives catalyzed by magnetically recoverable copper-plated iron nanoparticles. Tetrahedron **2014**, 70 (36), 6162-6168.

208. (a) Chen, L.; Leslie, D.; Coleman, M. G.; Mack, J., Recyclable heterogeneous metal foil-catalyzed cyclopropenation of alkynes and diazoacetates under solvent-free mechanochemical reaction conditions. Chem. Sci. **2018**, 9 (20), 4650-4661; (b) Chen, L.; Bovee, M. O.; Lemma, B. E.; Keithley, K. S. M.; Pilson, S. L.; Coleman, M. G.; Mack, J., An Inexpensive and Recyclable Silver-Foil Catalyst for the Cyclopropanation of Alkenes with Diazoacetates under Mechanochemical Conditions. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2015**, 54 (38), 11084-11087.

209. (a) Intrieri, D.; Carminati, D. M.; Gallo, E., The ligand influence in stereoselective carbene transfer reactions promoted by chiral metal porphyrin catalysts. Dalton Trans. **2016**, 45 (40), 15746-15761; (b) Lebel, H.; Marcoux, J.-F.; Molinaro, C.; Charette, A. B., Stereoselective Cyclopropanation Reactions. Chem. Rev. **2003**, 103 (4), 977-1050.

210. Fraile, J. M.; García, J. I.; Mayoral, J. A.; Tarnai, T.; Harmer, M. A., Bis(oxazoline)– Copper Complexes, Supported by Electrostatic Interactions, as Heterogeneous Catalysts for Enantioselective Cyclopropanation Reactions: Influence of the Anionic Support. J. Catal. **1999**, 186 (1), 214-221.

(a) Díaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderrain, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Pérez, P. J., From Homogeneous to Heterogeneous Catalysis: Novel Anchoring of Polypyrazolylborate Copper(I) Complexes on Silica Gel through Classical and Nonclassical Hydrogen Bonds. Use as Catalysts of the Olefin Cyclopropanation Reaction. Organometallics 2000, 19 (3), 285-289; (b) Lim, J.; Riduan, S. N.; Lee, S. S.; Ying, J. Y., Siliceous Mesocellular Foam-Supported Aza(bisoxazoline)-Copper Catalysts. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2008, 350 (9), 1295-1308; (c) Silva, A. R.; Albuquerque, H.; Borges, S.; Siegel, R.; Mafra, L.; Carvalho, A. P.; Pires, J., Strategies for copper bis(oxazoline) immobilization onto porous silica based materials. Micropor Mesopor Mater. 2012, 158, 26-38.

212. Silva, A. R.; Albuquerque, H.; Fontes, A.; Borges, S.; Martins, Â.; Carvalho, A. P.; Pires, J., Copper Bis(oxazoline) Encapsulated in Zeolites and Its Application as Heterogeneous Catalysts for the Cyclopropanation of Styrene. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. **2011**, 50 (20), 11495-11501.

213. Fraile, J. M.; García, J. I.; Mayoral, J. A.; Tarnai, T., Clay-supported bis(oxazoline)– copper complexes as heterogeneous catalysts of enantioselective cyclopropanation reactions. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1998**, 9 (22), 3997-4008.

214. Shi, F.-N.; Silva, A. R.; Rocha, J., Metal-organic framework based on copper(I) sulfate and 4,4'-bipyridine catalyzes the cyclopropanation of styrene. J. Solid State Chem. **2011**, 184 (8), 2196-2203.

215. Ishikawa, S.; Hudson, R.; Masnadi, M.; Bateman, M.; Castonguay, A.; Braidy, N.; Moores, A.; Li, C.-J., Cyclopropanation of diazoesters with styrene derivatives catalyzed by magnetically recoverable copper-plated iron nanoparticles. Tetrahedron **2014**, 70 (46), 8952-8958.

(a) Argyle, D. M.; Bartholomew, H. C., Heterogeneous Catalyst Deactivation and Regeneration: A Review. Catalysts 2015, 5 (1); (b) Moulijn, J. A.; van Diepen, A. E.; Kapteijn, F., Deactivation and Regeneration. In Handbook of Heterogeneous Catalysis, Ertl, G.; Helmut, K.; Ferdi, S.; Jens, W., Eds. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA: Weinheim, 2008; pp 1829-1845.

(a) Jaouen, F.; Herranz, J.; Lefèvre, M.; Dodelet, J.-P.; Kramm, U. I.; Herrmann, I.; Bogdanoff, P.; Maruyama, J.; Nagaoka, T.; Garsuch, A.; Dahn, J. R.; Olson, T.; Pylypenko, S.; Atanassov, P.; Ustinov, E. A., Cross-Laboratory Experimental Study of Non-Noble-Metal Electrocatalysts for the Oxygen Reduction Reaction. ACS Appl Mater Inter 2009, 1 (8), 1623-1639; (b) Graf, N.; Yegen, E.; Gross, T.; Lippitz, A.; Weigel, W.; Krakert, S.; Terfort, A.; Unger, W. E. S., XPS and NEXAFS studies of aliphatic and aromatic amine species on functionalized surfaces. Surf. Sci. 2009, 603 (18), 2849-2860.

218. Su, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Jiang, H.; Shen, J.; Yang, X.; Zou, W.; Chen, J.; Li, C., Cobalt nanoparticles embedded in N-doped carbon as an efficient bifunctional electrocatalyst for oxygen reduction and evolution reactions. Nanoscale **2014**, 6 (24), 15080-15089.

 Lin, L.; Zhu, Q.; Xu, A.-W., Noble-Metal-Free Fe–N/C Catalyst for Highly Efficient Oxygen Reduction Reaction under Both Alkaline and Acidic Conditions. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 2014, 136 (31), 11027-11033.

220. Wu, Z.-Y.; Xu, X.-X.; Hu, B.-C.; Liang, H.-W.; Lin, Y.; Chen, L.-F.; Yu, S.-H., Iron Carbide Nanoparticles Encapsulated in Mesoporous Fe-N-Doped Carbon Nanofibers for Efficient Electrocatalysis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2015**, 54 (28), 8179-8183.

Xing, T.; Zheng, Y.; Li, L. H.; Cowie, B. C. C.; Gunzelmann, D.; Qiao, S. Z.; Huang,
S.; Chen, Y., Observation of Active Sites for Oxygen Reduction Reaction on Nitrogen-Doped
Multilayer Graphene. ACS Nano 2014, 8 (7), 6856-6862.

222. Tan, B. J.; Klabunde, K. J.; Sherwood, P. M. A., X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy studies of solvated metal atom dispersed catalysts. Monometallic iron and bimetallic iron-cobalt particles on alumina. Chem. Mater. **1990**, 2 (2), 186-191.

223. Zhang, J.; Chen, W.; Huang, D.; Zeng, X.; Wang, X.; Hu, Y., Tandem Synthesis of α-Diazoketones from 1,3-Diketones. J. Org. Chem. **2017**, 82 (17), 9171-9174.

224. Javed, M. I.; Brewer, M., Diazo Preparation via Dehydrogenation of Hydrazones with "Activated" DMSO. Org. Lett. **2007**, 9 (9), 1789-1792.

225. Wyatt, P.; Hudson, A.; Charmant, J.; Orpen, A. G.; Phetmung, H., Synthesis and chemistry of enantiomerically pure 10,11-dihydrodibenzo[b,f]thiepines. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2006**, 4 (11), 2218-2232.

226. Beatham, N.; Orchard, A. F., The application of Fourier transform techniques to the problem of deconvolution in photoelectron spectroscopy. J. Electron. Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom. **1976**, 9 (2), 129-148.

227. Bordeaux, M.; Tyagi, V.; Fasan, R., Highly Diastereoselective and Enantioselective Olefin Cyclopropanation Using Engineered Myoglobin-Based Catalysts. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2015**, 54 (6), 1744-1748.

228. Chen, Y.; Zhang, X. P., Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Styrenes Catalyzed by Metal Complexes of D₂-Symmetrical Chiral Porphyrin: Superiority of Cobalt over Iron. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, 72 (15), 5931-5934.

229. Rosenberg, M. L.; Krivokapic, A.; Tilset, M., Highly cis-Selective Cyclopropanations with Ethyl Diazoacetate Using a Novel Rh(I) Catalyst with a Chelating N-Heterocyclic Iminocarbene Ligand. Org. Lett. **2009**, 11 (3), 547-550.

230. Bachmann, S.; Mezzetti, A., Strong Electronic Effects in the cis-Selective Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Olefins Catalyzed by [RuCl(PNNP)]⁺. Helv. Chim. Acta **2001,** 84 (10), 3063-3074.

231. Chen, Y.; Zhang, X. P., Vitamin B_{12} Derivatives as Natural Asymmetric Catalysts: Enantioselective Cyclopropanation of Alkenes. J. Org. Chem. **2004**, 69 (7), 2431-2435.

232. Kroitor, A. P.; Cailler, L. P.; Martynov, A. G.; Gorbunova, Y. G.; Tsivadze, A. Y.; Sorokin, A. B., Unexpected formation of a μ -carbido diruthenium(iv) complex during the metalation of phthalocyanine with Ru₃(CO)₁₂ and its catalytic activity in carbene transfer reactions. Dalton Trans. **2017**, 46 (45), 15651-15655.

233. Carminati, D. M.; Intrieri, D.; Caselli, A.; Le Gac, S.; Boitrel, B.; Toma, L.; Legnani,
L.; Gallo, E., Designing 'Totem' C₂-Symmetrical Iron Porphyrin Catalysts for Stereoselective
Cyclopropanations. Chem. Eur. J. 2016, 22 (38), 13599-13612.

234. Fantauzzi, S.; Gallo, E.; Rose, E.; Raoul, N.; Caselli, A.; Issa, S.; Ragaini, F.; Cenini,
S., Asymmetric Cyclopropanation of Olefins Catalyzed by Chiral Cobalt(II)-Binaphthyl
Porphyrins. Organometallics 2008, 27 (23), 6143-6151.

235. Jiang, G.-J.; Fu, X.-F.; Li, Q.; Yu, Z.-X., Rh(I)-Catalyzed [5 + 1] Cycloaddition of Vinylcyclopropanes and CO for the Synthesis of α , β - and β , γ -Cyclohexenones. Org. Lett. **2012**, 14 (3), 692-695.

236. Rosenberg, M. L.; Vlašaná, K.; Gupta, N. S.; Wragg, D.; Tilset, M., Highly cis-Selective Rh(I)-Catalyzed Cyclopropanation Reactions. J. Org. Chem. **2011**, 76 (8), 2465-2470.

237. Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Lenoir, I.; Tone, H., 5,10,15,20-Tetraphenylporphyrinatorhodium(III) Iodide Catalyzed Cyclopropanation Reactions of Alkenes Using Glycine Ester Hydrochloride. J. Org. Chem. **2001**, 66 (24), 8260-8263. 238. Hagar, M.; Ragaini, F.; Monticelli, E.; Caselli, A.; Macchi, P.; Casati, N., Chiral cyclopropylamines in the synthesis of new ligands; first asymmetric Alkyl-BIAN compounds. Chem. Commun. **2010**, 46 (33), 6153-6155.

239. Nishimura, T.; Ohe, K.; Uemura, S., Oxidative Transformation of tert-Cyclobutanols by Palladium Catalysis under Oxygen Atmosphere. J. Org. Chem. **2001**, 66 (4), 1455-1465.

240. Liu, H.; Wei, Y.; Cai, C., Hypervalent-iodine(III) oxidation of hydrazones to diazo compounds and one-pot nickel(II)-catalyzed cyclopropanation. New J. Chem. **2016**, 40 (1), 674-678.

Appendices - NMR Spectra of Isolated Products






















































































Page **154** of **195**








































Ŷĸֈℰⅆ৻ℎⅉ℣ⅆֈⅅⅇ℣ℼ℮ⅆℴⅉⅆⅉⅆⅆⅇⅆ℩ⅇⅈⅆⅆℙ℈ⅆⅉℼ⅏ⅉⅆ⅌ⅆℽⅆℽⅆ℅ⅉℎⅆⅉℨ⅄_{ⅅ⅃}ⅆⅈⅆⅆⅈⅆⅈⅈℳℴⅆⅉℴⅆℴℰ℩ℎℯ℩ⅆⅈℎℴ℩ℎⅆⅉℾℴℴℰℎⅆ℁ⅉℙⅆℴⅈⅆ℁ⅆⅆⅈℰ⅏ⅈⅈℎℽⅉℴⅆⅉⅆ℩ℴⅆℽℎℽℴℯℴⅆℯ℩ℳⅆℽ⅌ℽℎℴℯⅆⅇℯ⅃ℎℯℴℯⅇ

-116.48

-101 -102 -103 -104 -105 -106 -107 -108 -109 -110 -111 -112 -113 -114 -115 -116 -117 -118 -119 -120 -121 -122 -123 -124 -125 -126 -127 -128 -129 f1 (ppm)























Page **183** of **195**





33.21 33.21 31.99 31.99 33.21 29.87 29.81 29.81 29.81 29.81 29.81 29.11 20.210

Page **184** of **195**



Page **185** of **195**



Page **186** of **195**



Page **187** of **195**





Page **189** of **195**





Page **191** of **195**





Page **193** of **195**



Page **194** of **195**

Communications (Poster/Oral presentation)

- Abhijnan Sarkar, Dario Formenti, Fabio Ragaini "Nitrogen-Enriched Graphene Modified Metal and Metal Oxide Nanoparticles as Innovative Catalysts: New Uses" at International School of Organometallic Chemistry ISOC 2017 at San Benedetto del Tronto, 2-6 September, 2017, organized by University of Camerino.
- Abhijnan Sarkar, Dario Formenti, Francesco Ferretti, Kathrin Junge, Fabio Ragaini and Matthias Beller "Nitrogen-Enriched Graphene Modified Metal and Metal Oxide Nanoparticles as Innovative Catalysts: First Application to Cyclopropanation Reactions": at Co.G.I.C.O XIII at Florence, 18 – 20 July, 2018.
- Abhijnan Sarkar, Dario Formenti, Francesco Ferretti, Kathrin Junge, Fabio Ragaini and Matthias Beller "Nitrogen-Enriched Graphene Iron Oxide Nanoparticles as Innovative Catalysts: First Attempt to Cyclopropanation Reactions" at EUCOMOC XXIII, 16 - 20 June, 2019 at Helsinki, Finland.

Publication

1. Abhijnan Sarkar, Francesco Ferretti, Dario Formenti, Carsten Kreyenschulte, Stephan Bartling, Henrik Lund, Kathrin Junge, Matthias Beller and Fabio Ragaini "Iron/N-doped Graphene nano-structured Catalysts for General Cyclopropanation of Olefins" (manuscript submitted)